

30IC/07/8.4 Original: English

30TH INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE OF THE RED CROSS AND RED CRESCENT

Geneva, Switzerland, 26-30 November 2007

INTERNATIONAL HUMANITARIAN LAW AND THE CHALLENGES OF CONTEMPORARY ARMED CONFLICTS

Document prepared by the International Committee of the Red Cross

Geneva, October 2007

INTERNATIONAL HUMANITARIAN LAW AND THE CHALLENGES OF CONTEMPORARY ARMED CONFLICTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- I. Introduction
- II. IHL and terrorism
- III. Procedural principles and safeguards for internment or administrative detention
- IV. The conduct of hostilities
 - 1. General issues, in particular asymmetric warfare
 - 2. The notion of "direct participation in hostilities"
 - 3. Regulating the use of cluster munitions
- V. Non-international armed conflicts
- VI. Regulating private military and security companies
- VII. Occupation and other forms of administration of foreign territory
- VIII. Increasing respect for IHL: The role of sanctions

Annexes:

- 1) Procedural Principles and Safeguards for Internment / Administrative Detention in Armed Conflict and Other Situations of Violence
- 2) Agenda of the 30th San Remo Round Table on "The Conduct of Hostilities: Revisiting the Law of Armed Conflict 100 Years after the 1907 Hague Conventions and 30 Years after the 1977 Additional Protocols"
- 3) Increasing Respect for International Humanitarian Law in Non-International Armed Conflicts

Executive summary

The purpose of this report is to generate reflection and debate on a number of current challenges in the field of international humanitarian law (IHL) identified by the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) and to outline prospective ICRC action aimed at clarifying and developing IHL. The report follows up on a number of specific issues raised in a previous report on the same topic presented to the 28th International Conference of the Red Cross and Red Crescent in 2003 and gives an overview of new or emerging issues deserving discussion. While the report was primarily written to serve as a background document for the 30th International Conference of the Red Cross and Red Crescent, the ICRC hopes that its contents will be of interest to a wider readership as well.

The *Introduction* describes the general context in which the report was written and the premises on which it was based.

In the years that have elapsed since the 28th International Conference was held, the relationship between armed conflict and acts of terrorism, and the role of IHL in this connection, have continued to generate substantial debate, both among specialists and among the broader public. The need for a re-examination of the adequacy of IHL in dealing with terrorism is frequently mentioned without, however, any reference being made to specific deficiencies in the law. Chapter II of this report, *IHL and terrorism*, outlines different challenges relating to IHL and terrorist acts, the issue of how to qualify the fight against terrorism in legal terms and the status of various persons in this context. It provides the ICRC's current legal analysis of these issues, stressing that IHL as a whole is adequate. The report nevertheless recognizes that acts of terrorism pose some specific legal challenges and concludes that the fight against terrorism requires the application of a range of measures – investigative, diplomatic, financial, economic, legal, educational and so forth – spanning the entire spectrum from peacetime to armed conflict, and that IHL cannot be the sole legal tool relied on in such a complex endeavour.

Chapter III focuses on an issue that has received considerable attention in connection with the fight against terrorism, namely: *Procedural principles and safeguards for internment or administrative detention*. This issue is, however, much wider in scope and calls for clarification more generally, in respect of all armed conflicts and other situations of violence. In 2005, the ICRC developed guidelines reflecting its institutional position on the matter (Annex 1).

Chapter IV, *The conduct of hostilities*, is divided into three sections. It begins by reiterating the ICRC's view that the existing legal framework, consisting of both treaty law and customary international law, is on the whole adequate in dealing with present-day armed conflicts. It recognizes, however, that the concrete application of the treaty-based and customary rules that were identified in the ICRC's 2003 report as requiring clarification will probably present even greater challenges in today's environment, which is increasingly characterized by asymmetric warfare, owing in particular to the growing involvement of non-State armed groups, and by urban warfare. It concludes that these challenges cannot *a priori* be met by developments in treaty law. In such situations, it is generally not the rules that are at fault but the will or sometimes the ability of the parties to an armed conflict – and of the international community – to enforce them, in particular through criminal law.

In the second section of this chapter, follow-up information is provided on the ICRC / TMC Asser Institute expert process, the purpose of which is to present a coherent interpretation of the notion of *direct participation in hostilities* under IHL.

The third section focuses on the human cost of the use of *cluster munitions* and the legal challenges these weapons pose for some of the core rules on the conduct of hostilities (the principle of distinction, the prohibition of indiscriminate attacks, the rule of proportionality in attack and feasible precautions). In the ICRC's view, there are rather strong arguments in favour of developing specific rules to regulate such weapons. These include the specific characteristics of cluster munitions, their history of causing immense suffering and the fact that IHL's general rules on the means and methods of warfare had only a rather limited effect in preventing these weapons from causing serious problems during and after armed conflicts.

The majority of contemporary armed conflicts are not of an international character. The daily lives of many civilians caught up in these conflicts are ruled by fear and extreme suffering. The magnitude of the human suffering in such situations is of great operational concern to the ICRC. Ensuring better protection for persons caught up in non-international armed conflicts remains therefore a major priority for the ICRC. Chapter V, *Non-international armed conflicts*, outlines the ICRC's legal thinking subsequent to the publication of its 2005 Study on Customary International Humanitarian Law. The Study showed that many rules previously applicable in international armed conflicts are now binding as a matter of customary law in non-international armed conflicts as well. Despite the development of customary international law since the adoption of Additional Protocol II in 1977, a number of substantial challenges remain. Some of them are detailed in the present report. In addition, the question of respect for IHL in non-international armed conflicts continues to be of major concern to the ICRC. Work conducted in this regard since 2003 is summarized in this section (see also Annex 3).

Over the last few years, an increasing number of tasks that were traditionally performed by official State security or military forces in wartime have been sub-contracted to private military or security companies (PMCs / PSCs). While the presence of these companies in conflict situations is not new, their numbers have increased and, more significantly, the nature of their activities has changed. Chapter VI, *Regulating private military and security companies*, explains that the ICRC's interest lies not so much in joining the debate on the legitimacy of the use of private companies in armed conflicts but rather in finding ways of ensuring better compliance with IHL by those companies when they are present. It thus focuses on the obligations of PMCs / PSCs and States in particular under IHL and describes the aims of an initiative taken by the Swiss government, in cooperation with the ICRC, to promote respect for IHL and human rights law by PMC / PSCs operating in conflict situations. This initiative was launched in 2006.

Occupation law is considered unsuitable by some to the complexity of recent situations in which it is applicable, on the grounds that it does not sufficiently take into account developments in human rights law and that some of its rules constitute a hindrance to "transformative occupation." Moreover, recent experience has shown the necessity of clearly defining the legal framework regulating the administration of a territory by multinational forces or by an international civil administration and the particular relevance of IHL and occupation law in that context. Chapter VII, *Occupation and other forms of administration of foreign territory*, addresses these and related questions.

Better implementation of IHL both in peacetime and during an armed conflict remains an ongoing priority for the ICRC. Chapter VIII, *Increasing respect for IHL: The role of sanctions*, focuses on an ICRC initiative to examine the role and the deterrent effect of sanctions against the perpetrators of serious violations of IHL, the nature and characteristics of those sanctions and the environment in which they are applied.

INTERNATIONAL HUMANITARIAN LAW AND THE CHALLENGES OF CONTEMPORARY ARMED CONFLICTS

I. INTRODUCTION

This is the second report on "International Humanitarian Law (IHL) and the Challenges of Contemporary Armed Conflicts" that has been prepared by the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) for an International Conference of the Red Cross and Red Crescent. In the years that have elapsed since the first report was presented to the 28th International Conference in Geneva, in December 2003, the daily reality of armed conflict has, unsurprisingly, not changed. While a factual description of the various conflicts that are being waged around the world today is beyond the scope of this report, suffice it to say that war has continued, inexorably, to bring death, destruction, suffering and loss in their wake.

Today, civilians still bear the brunt of armed conflicts. Civilians have remained the primary victims of violations of IHL committed by both State parties and non-State armed groups. Deliberate attacks against civilians, forced displacement of civilian populations, the destruction of infrastructure vital to the civilian population and of civilian property are just some examples of prohibited acts that have been perpetrated on a regular basis. Individual civilians have also been the victims of violations of the law such as murder, forced disappearance, torture, cruel treatment and outrages upon personal dignity, and rape and other forms of sexual violence. They have been used as human shields . Persons detained in relation to armed conflicts have been deprived of their basic rights, including adequate conditions and treatment while in detention, procedural safeguards aimed at preventing arbitrary detention and the right to a fair trial. Medical personnel and humanitarian workers have also been the targets of IHL violations. In many instances, humanitarian organizations have been prevented from carrying out their activities or hampered in their efforts to do so effectively. This has further aggravated the plight of those whom they are meant to assist and protect. Attacks on journalists and other members of the media are a source of increasing concern as well.

While the suffering inflicted in war has not changed, the past four years have been characterized by growing public awareness of IHL and its basic rules – and therefore of acts that constitute violations of those rules. IHL principles and standards have been the focus not only of the usual expert debates but also, increasingly, of intense and wide-ranging governmental, academic and media scrutiny. Heightened interest in and awareness of IHL must be welcomed and encouraged, bearing in mind the fact that knowledge of any body of rules is a prerequisite to better implementation. Moreover, the 1949 Geneva Conventions have now become universal, making the treaties legally binding on all countries in the world. It is hoped that the ICRC's Study on Customary International Humanitarian Law, published in 2005, will also contribute to improved awareness of the rules governing behaviour in all types of armed conflicts.

The fact that IHL may be said to have stepped out of expert circles and to have fully entered the public domain has meant, however, that the risk of politicized interpretations and implementation of its rules has also increased. The past four years have provided evidence of this general trend. States have, on occasion, denied the applicability of IHL to certain situations even though the facts on the ground clearly indicated that an armed conflict was taking place. In other instances, States have attempted to broaden the scope of application of IHL to include situations that could not, based on the facts, be classified as armed conflicts. Apart from controversies over the issue of how to qualify a situation of violence in legal terms,

there have also been what can only be called opportunistic misinterpretations of certain timetested, specific legal rules. The tendency by some actors to point to alleged violations by others, without showing any willingness to acknowledge ongoing violations of their own, has also been detrimental to the proper application of the law.

The politicization of IHL, it must be emphasized, defeats the very purpose of this body of rules. IHL's primary beneficiaries are civilians and persons *hors de combat*. The very edifice of IHL is based on the idea that certain categories of individuals must be spared the effects of violence as far as possible regardless of the side to which they happen to belong and regardless of the justification given for armed conflict in the first place. The non-application or selective application of IHL, or the misinterpretation of its rules for domestic or other political purposes, can – and inevitably does – have a direct effect on the lives and livelihoods of those who are not or are no longer waging war. A fragmentary approach to IHL contradicts the essential IHL principle of humanity, which must apply equally to all victims of armed conflict if it is to retain its inherent meaning at all. Parties to armed conflicts must not lose sight of the fact that, in accordance with the very logic of IHL, politicized and otherwise skewed interpretations of the law can rarely, if ever, have an impact on the opposing side alone. It is often just a question of time before one's own civilians and captured combatants are exposed to the pernicious effects of reciprocal politicization or deliberate misinterpretation by the adversary.

The purpose of this report, like the previous one, is to provide an overview of some of the challenges posed by contemporary armed conflicts for IHL, to generate broader reflection on those challenges and to outline ongoing or prospective ICRC action. The report is based on the premises outlined below.

First of all, the treaties of humanitarian law, notably the Geneva Conventions and their two Additional Protocols of 1977, supplemented by rules of customary humanitarian law, remain the relevant frame of reference for regulating behaviour in armed conflict. In the ICRC's view, the basic principles and rules governing the conduct of hostilities and the treatment of persons in enemy hands (the two core areas of IHL), continue to reflect a reasonable and pragmatic balance between the demands of military necessity and those of humanity. As discussed further on in this report, acts of violence with transnational elements, which have presented the most recent overall challenge for IHL, do not necessarily amount to armed conflict in the legal sense. Moreover, IHL is certainly not the only legal regime that can be used to deal with various forms of such violence.

Secondly, in the ICRC's view, the main cause of suffering during armed conflicts and of violations of IHL remains the failure to implement existing norms – whether owing to an absence of political will or to another reason – rather than a lack of rules or their inadequacy.

Thirdly, the law is just one among many tools used to regulate human behaviour and no branch of law, whether international or domestic, can – on its own – be expected to completely regulate a phenomenon as complex as violence. While IHL aims to circumscribe certain behaviour in armed conflict, there will always be States, non-State armed groups and individuals who will not be deterred from violating the rules, regardless of the penalty involved. The increase in suicide attacks targeting civilians in and outside of armed conflict is just a current case in point. In other words, the law, if relied on as the sole tool for eliminating or reducing violence, must be understood to have limits. Political, economic, societal, cultural and other factors that influence human conduct just as decisively must also be taken into account when contemplating comprehensive solutions to any form of violence.

Lastly, this report examines a number of issues that may be considered to pose challenges for IHL. The selection is non-exhaustive and does not purport to include the full range of IHL-related subjects that the ICRC is currently considering or working on, or to which it may in future turn its attention.

II. IHL AND TERRORISM

If, as has been asserted above, IHL principles and rules have entered the public domain over the past few years, it is in large part owing to debate over the relationship between armed conflict and acts of terrorism. The question that is most frequently asked is whether IHL has a role to play in addressing terrorism and what that role is.

IHL and terrorist acts

An examination of the adequacy of international law, including IHL, in dealing with terrorism obviously begs the question, "What is terrorism?" Definitions abound, both in domestic legislation and at the international level but, as is well known, there is currently no comprehensive international legal definition of the term. The United Nations draft Comprehensive Convention on International Terrorism has been stalled for several years because of the issue, among others, whether and how acts committed in armed conflict should be excluded from its scope.¹

However, regardless of the lack of a comprehensive definition at the international level, terrorist acts are crimes under domestic law and under the existing international and regional conventions on terrorism and they may, provided the requisite criteria are met, qualify as war crimes or as crimes against humanity. Thus, as opposed to some other areas of international law, "terrorism" – although not universally defined as such – is abundantly regulated. The ICRC believes, however, that the very term remains highly susceptible to subjective political interpretations and that giving it a legal definition is unlikely to reduce its emotive impact or use.

IHL is the body of rules applicable when armed violence reaches the level of armed conflict, and is confined only to armed conflict, whether international or non-international. The relevant treaties are, of course, the four Geneva Conventions of 1949 and their two Additional Protocols of 1977, although IHL encompasses a range of other legally binding instruments and customary law as well. While IHL does not provide a definition of terrorism, it explicitly prohibits most acts committed against civilians and civilian objects in armed conflict that would commonly be considered "terrorist" if committed in peacetime.

It is a basic principle of IHL that persons engaged in armed conflict must at all times distinguish between civilians and combatants and between civilian objects and military objectives. The principle of distinction is a cornerstone of IHL. Derived from it are specific rules aimed at protecting civilians, such as the prohibition of deliberate or direct attacks against civilians and civilian objects, the prohibition of indiscriminate attacks and of the use of "human shields," and other rules governing the conduct of hostilities that are aimed at sparing civilians and civilian objects from the effects of hostilities. IHL also prohibits hostage-taking, whether of civilians or of persons no longer taking part in hostilities.

Once the threshold of armed conflict has been reached, it may be argued that there is little added value in designating most acts of violence against civilians or civilian objects as "terrorist" because such acts already constitute war crimes under IHL. Individuals suspected of having committed war crimes may be criminally prosecuted by States under existing bases of jurisdiction in international law; and, in the case of grave breaches as defined by the Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocol I, they must be criminally prosecuted, including under the principle of universal jurisdiction.

_

¹ See footnote 3.

IHL also specifically prohibits "measures of terrorism" and "acts of terrorism" against persons in the power of a party to the conflict. Thus, the Fourth Geneva Convention (Article 33) provides that "collective penalties and likewise all measures of intimidation or of terrorism are prohibited," while Additional Protocol II (Article 4(2)(d)) prohibits "acts of terrorism" against persons not or no longer taking part in hostilities. The context in which referral is made to these prohibitions suggests that the main aim is to underline a general principle of law, namely, that criminal responsibility is individual and that neither individuals nor the civilian population as a whole may be subjected to collective punishment, which is, obviously, a measure likely to induce terror.

In sections dealing with the conduct of hostilities, both Protocols additional to the Geneva Conventions also prohibit acts aimed at spreading terror among the civilian population. Additional Protocol I (Article 51(2)) and Additional Protocol II (Article 13(2)) stipulate that:

"The civilian population as such, as well as individual civilians, shall not be the object of attack. Acts or threats of violence the primary purpose of which is to spread terror among the civilian population are prohibited."

The main purpose of these provisions is to reiterate the prohibition of acts committed in international or non-international armed conflict that do not provide a definite military advantage. While even a lawful attack against a military objective is likely to spread fear among civilians, these rules prohibit attacks specifically designed to terrorize civilians – such as campaigns of shelling or sniping at civilians in urban areas – that cannot be justified by the anticipated military advantage.

The explicit prohibition of acts of terrorism against persons in the power of the adversary, as well as the prohibition of such acts committed in the course of hostilities – along with the other basic provisions mentioned above – demonstrate that IHL protects civilians and civilian objects against these types of assault when committed in armed conflict. **Thus, in current armed conflicts, the problem is not a lack of rules, but a lack of respect for them.**

A recent challenge for IHL has been the tendency of States to label as "terrorist" all acts of warfare committed by organized armed groups in the course of armed conflict, in particular non-international armed conflict. Although it is generally agreed that parties to an international armed conflict may, under IHL, lawfully attack each other's military objectives, States have been much more reluctant to recognize that the same principle applies in non-international armed conflicts. Thus, States engaged in non-international armed conflicts have, with increasing frequency, labelled any act committed by domestic insurgents an act of "terrorism" even though, under IHL, such an act might not have been unlawful (e.g. attacks against military personnel or installations). What is being overlooked here is that a crucial difference between IHL and the legal regime governing terrorism is the fact that IHL is based on the premise that certain acts of violence – against military objectives – are not prohibited. Any act of "terrorism" is, however, by definition, prohibited and criminal.²

The need to differentiate between lawful acts of war and acts of terrorism must be borne in mind so as not to conflate these two legal regimes. This is particularly important in non-

_

² As already mentioned, one of the main issues holding up the conclusion of negotiations on the draft UN Comprehensive Convention on International Terrorism is whether and how acts committed in armed conflicts should be excluded from its scope. While there is general agreement that acts committed by State armed forces in international armed conflicts would not be covered by the Convention, the point in dispute is whether acts committed by non-State armed groups should be excluded. For the reasons mentioned above, the ICRC believes that the Convention must not define as "terrorist" those acts that are permissible under IHL when committed by organized armed groups in non-international armed conflict. As already emphasized, all acts of violence committed by organized armed groups are already punishable under domestic criminal law.

international armed conflicts, in which all acts of violence by organized armed groups against military objectives remain in any event subject to domestic criminal prosecution. The tendency to designate them additionally as "terrorist" may diminish armed groups' incentive to respect IHL, and may also be a hindrance in a possible subsequent political process of conflict resolution.

Legal qualification

The legal qualification of what is often called the "global war on terror" has been another subject of considerable controversy.³ While the term has become part of daily parlance in certain countries, one needs to examine, in the light of IHL, whether it is merely a rhetorical device or whether it refers to a global armed conflict in the legal sense. On the basis of an analysis of the available facts, the ICRC does not share the view that a global war is being waged and it takes a case-by-case approach to the legal qualification of situations of violence that are colloquially referred to as part of the "war on terror." Simply put, where violence reaches the threshold of armed conflict, whether international or non-international, IHL is applicable. Where it does not, other bodies of law come into play.

Under the 1949 Geneva Conventions, international armed conflicts are those fought between States. Thus, the 2001 war between the US-led coalition and the Taliban regime in Afghanistan (waged as part of the "war on terror") is an example of an international armed conflict.

IHL does not envisage an international armed conflict between States and non-State armed groups for the simple reason that States have never been willing to accord armed groups the privileges enjoyed by members of regular armies. To say that a global international war is being waged against groups such as Al-Qaeda would mean that, under the law of war, their followers should be considered to have the same rights and obligations as members of regular armed forces. It was already clear in 1949 that no nation would contemplate exempting members of non-State armed groups from criminal prosecution under domestic law for acts of war that were not prohibited under international law – which is the crux of combatant and prisoner-of-war status. The drafters of the Geneva Conventions, which grant prisoner-of-war status under strictly defined conditions, were fully aware of the political and practical realities of international armed conflict and crafted the treaty provisions accordingly.

The so-called "war on terror" can also take the form of a non-international armed conflict, such as the one currently being waged in Afghanistan between the Afghan government, supported by a coalition of States and different armed groups, namely, remnants of the Taliban and Al-Qaeda. This conflict is non-international, albeit with an international component in the form of a foreign military presence on one of the sides, because it is being waged with the consent and support of the respective domestic authorities and does not involve two opposed States. The ongoing hostilities in Afghanistan are thus governed by the rules applicable to non-international armed conflicts found in both treaty-based and customary IHL. The same body of rules would apply in similar circumstances where the level of violence has reached that of an armed conflict and where a non-State armed actor is party to an armed conflict (e.g. the situation in Somalia).

The question that remains is whether, taken together, all the acts of terrorism carried out in various parts of the world (outside situations of armed conflict such as those in Afghanistan, Iraq or Somalia) are part of one and the same armed conflict in the legal sense. In other words, can it be said that the bombings in Glasgow, London, Madrid, Bali or Casablanca can

³ More recently, it has been said that the "global war on terror" is limited to "Al-Qaeda, the Taliban and associated forces," but that characterization does not change the basic premises of the approach.

⁴ The sole exception is set out in Article 1(4) of Additional Protocol I and is subject to specific conditions, i.e. the existence of a war of national liberation.

be attributed to one and the same party to an armed conflict as understood under IHL? Can it furthermore be claimed that the level of violence involved in each of those places has reached that of an armed conflict? On both counts, it would appear not.

Moreover, it is evident that the authorities of the States concerned did not apply conduct of hostilities rules in dealing with persons suspected of planning or having carried out acts of terrorism, which they would have been allowed to do if they had applied an armed conflict paradigm. IHL rules would have permitted them to directly target the suspects and even to cause what is known as "collateral damage" to civilians and civilian objects in the vicinity as long as the incidental civilian damage was not excessive in relation to the military advantage anticipated. Instead, they applied the rules of law enforcement. They attempted to capture the suspects for later trial and took care in so doing to evacuate civilian structures in order to avoid all injury to persons, buildings and objects nearby.

To sum up, each situation of organized armed violence must be examined in the specific context in which it takes place and must be legally qualified as armed conflict, or not, based on the factual circumstances. The law of war was tailored for situations of armed conflict, both from a practical and a legal standpoint. One should always remember that IHL rules on what constitutes the lawful taking of life or on detention in international armed conflicts, for example, allow for more flexibility than the rules applicable in non-armed conflicts governed by other bodies of law, such as human rights law. In other words, it is both dangerous and unnecessary, in practical terms, to apply IHL to situations that do not amount to war. This is not always fully appreciated.

Status of persons

The ICRC also adopts a case-by-case approach, based on the available facts, in determining the legal regime that governs the status and rights of persons detained in connection with what is called the "global war on terror". If a person is detained in relation to an international armed conflict, the relevant treaties of IHL fully apply. If a person is detained in connection with a non-international armed conflict, the deprivation of liberty is governed by Article 3 common to the four Geneva Conventions, other applicable treaties, customary international law, and other bodies of law such as human rights law and domestic law. If a person is detained outside an armed conflict, it is only those other bodies of law that apply.

In this context, it bears repeating that *only in international armed conflicts* does IHL provide combatant (and prisoner-of-war) status to members of the armed forces. The main feature of this status is that it gives combatants the right to directly participate in hostilities and grants them immunity from criminal prosecution for acts carried out in accordance with IHL, such as lawful attacks against military objectives. In case of capture, combatants become prisoners of war and, as such, cannot be tried or convicted for having participated in hostilities. The corollary is that captured combatants can be interned, without any form of process, until the end of active hostilities. Captured combatants may, however, be criminally prosecuted for war crimes or other criminal acts committed before or during internment. In the event of criminal prosecution, the Third Geneva Convention provides that prisoners of war may be validly sentenced only if this is done by the same courts and according to the same procedure as for members of the armed forces of the detaining power. It is often not understood that prisoners of war who have been acquitted in criminal proceedings may be held by the Detaining Power until the end of active hostilities. In case of doubt about the status of a captured belligerent, such status must be determined by a competent tribunal.

IHL treaties contain no explicit reference to "unlawful combatants." This designation is shorthand for persons — civilians — who have directly participated in hostilities *in an international armed conflict* without being members of the armed forces as defined by IHL and who have fallen into enemy hands. Under the rules of IHL applicable to international armed conflicts, civilians enjoy immunity from attack "unless and for such time as they take a

direct part in hostilities." It is undisputed that, in addition to the loss of immunity from attack during the time in which they participate directly in hostilities, civilians – as opposed to combatants – may also be criminally prosecuted under domestic law for the mere fact of having taken part in hostilities. In other words, they do not enjoy the combatant's "privilege" of not being liable to prosecution for taking up arms, and they are thus sometimes referred to as "unprivileged belligerents" or "unlawful combatants."

Regarding the status and rights of civilians who have directly participated in hostilities *in an international armed conflict* and have fallen into enemy hands, there are essentially two schools of thought. According to the first, "unprivileged belligerents" are covered only by the rules contained in Article 3 common to the four Geneva Conventions and (possibly) in Article 75 of Additional Protocol I, applicable either as treaty law or as customary law. According to the other view, shared by the ICRC,⁵ civilians who have taken a direct part in hostilities, and who fulfil the nationality criteria set out in the Fourth Geneva Convention (Article 4),⁶ remain protected persons within the meaning of that Convention. Those who do not fulfil the nationality criteria are at a minimum protected by the provisions of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and Article 75 of Additional Protocol I, applicable either as treaty law or as customary law.

Thus, there is no category of persons affected by or involved in international armed conflict who fall outside the scope of any IHL protection. Likewise, there is no "gap" between the Third and Fourth Geneva Conventions, i.e. there is no intermediate status into which "unprivileged belligerents" fulfilling the nationality criteria could fall.

The obvious question that arises here is what constitutes "direct" participation in hostilities and how the temporal aspect of participation should be defined (the wording is: "for such time as they take a direct part in hostilities"). As is explained in Chapter IV.2 of the report, this is an issue that the ICRC has been striving to clarify since 2003.

Persons who have directly participated in hostilities can be interned by the adversary if this is absolutely necessary to the security of the detaining power. Under the Fourth Geneva Convention, a protected person who has been interned is entitled to have the decision on internment reconsidered without delay and to have it automatically reviewed every six months. While interned, a person can be considered as having forfeited certain rights and privileges provided for in the Fourth Geneva Convention, the exercise of which would be prejudicial to the security of the State, as laid down in Article 5 of that Convention and subject to the safeguards of treaty law and customary international law.

Under the Fourth Geneva Convention, persons who have been interned must be released as soon as possible after the close of the hostilities in the international armed conflict during which they were captured, if not sooner, unless they are subject to criminal proceedings or have been convicted of a criminal offence. This means that, after the end of an international armed conflict, the Fourth Geneva Convention can no longer be considered a valid legal framework for the detention of persons who are not subject to criminal proceedings.

"Persons protected by the Convention are those who, at a given moment and in any manner whatsoever, find themselves, in case of a conflict or occupation, in the hands of a Party to the conflict or Occupying Power of which they are not nationals."

"Nationals of a State which is not bound by the Convention are not protected by it. Nationals of a neutral State who find themselves in the territory of a belligerent State, and nationals of a cobelligerent State, shall not be regarded as protected persons while the State of which they are nationals has normal diplomatic representation in the State in whose hands they are."

⁵ This interpretation is implicitly recognized in Article 45(3) of Additional Protocol I – at least for States party to that treaty: "Any person who has taken part in hostilities, who is not entitled to prisoner-of-war status and who does not benefit from more favourable treatment in accordance with the Fourth Convention shall have the right at all times to the protection of Article 75 of this Protocol."

⁶ Pursuant to Article 4 of the Fourth Convention:

In sum, it is difficult to see what other measures, apart from: (a) loss of immunity from attack, (b) internment if warranted by security reasons, (c) possible forfeiture of certain rights and privileges during internment and (d) criminal charges, could be applied to persons who have directly participated in hostilities without exposing them to the risk of serious violations of their right to life, physical integrity and personal dignity under IHL, such as attempts to relax the absolute prohibition of torture, and cruel and inhuman treatment. The ICRC would oppose any such attempts.

Combatant status, which entails the right to participate directly in hostilities, and *prisoner-of-war status*, do not exist in *non-international armed conflicts*. Civilians who take a direct part in hostilities in such conflicts are subject, for as long as they continue to do so, to the same rules regarding loss of protection from direct attack that apply during international armed conflict. The expert process mentioned above also aims to clarify the meaning of the notion of "direct participation in hostilities" in the context of non-international armed conflicts. Upon capture, civilians detained in non-international armed conflicts do not, as a matter of law, enjoy prisoner-of-war status and may be prosecuted by the detaining State under domestic law for any acts of violence committed during the conflict, including, of course, war crimes. Their rights and treatment during detention are governed by humanitarian law, human rights law and domestic law.

It must be emphasized that no one, regardless of his or her legal status, can be subjected to acts prohibited by IHL, such as murder, violence to life and person, torture, cruel or inhuman treatment or outrages upon personal dignity or be denied the right to a fair trial. "Unlawful combatants" are in this sense also fully protected by IHL and it is incorrect to suggest that they have minimal or no rights. One of the purposes of the law of war is to protect the life, health and dignity of all persons involved in or affected by armed conflict. It is inconceivable that calling someone an "unlawful combatant" (or anything else) should suffice to deprive him or her of rights guaranteed to every individual under the law.

The preceding observations on the relationship between IHL and terrorism should not be taken to mean that there is no scope or need for further reflection on the interplay between the two legal regimes — IHL and the one governing terrorism — or for clarification or development of the law. Indeed, as will be demonstrated in the discussion on procedural principles and safeguards for internment or administrative detention (see Chapter III and Annex 1), the ICRC has been working on ways of dealing with specific legal challenges that are also posed by acts of terrorism. What is submitted is that the fight against terrorism requires the application of a range of measures — investigative, diplomatic, financial, economic, legal, educational and so forth — spanning the entire spectrum from peacetime to armed conflict and that IHL cannot be the sole legal tool relied on in such a complex endeavour.

Throughout its history, IHL has proven adaptable to new types of armed conflict. The ICRC stands ready to help States and others concerned to clarify or develop the rules governing armed conflict if it is those rules that are deemed insufficient – and not the political will to apply the existing ones. The overriding challenge for the ICRC, and others, will then be to ensure that any clarifications or developments are such as to preserve current standards of protection provided for by international law, including IHL. The ICRC is well aware of the significant challenge that States face in their duty to protect their citizens against acts of violence that are indiscriminate and intended to spread terror among the civilian population. However, the ICRC is convinced that any steps taken – including efforts to clarify or develop the law – must remain within an appropriate legal framework, especially one that preserves respect for human dignity and the fundamental guarantees to which each individual is entitled.

III. PROCEDURAL PRINCIPLES AND SAFEGUARDS FOR INTERNMENT OR ADMINISTRATIVE DETENTION

Under the Fourth Geneva Convention, internment is the severest measure of control that may be taken against a protected person by a party to an international armed conflict. The Convention provides that internment, which is a form of deprivation of liberty without criminal charges, may be imposed only for "imperative reasons of security" (Article 78) or if the security of the detaining power makes it "absolutely necessary" (Article 42). Internment must cease once the reasons for it no longer exist, or at the very latest upon the end of active hostilities. The Convention also spells out basic procedural rules to ensure that States do not abuse the considerable measure of discretion they have in determining what acts constitute a threat to their security. It must be admitted, however, that the rules are fairly rudimentary from the point of view of individual protection. Moreover, recent State practice — e.g. internment by States party to multinational coalitions — has been characterized by divergences in the interpretation and implementation of the relevant rules, which has given rise to serious concern.

Internment is also practised in non-international armed conflicts, and is explicitly mentioned in Additional Protocol II, which further elaborates on Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions. However, the treaty provisions provide no further guidance on what procedure is to be applied in cases of internment. It is submitted that the gap must be filled by reference to applicable human rights law and domestic law, given that IHL rules applicable in non-international armed conflicts constitute a safety net that is supplemented by the provisions of these bodies of law.

The challenge of interpreting the existing provisions of IHL in relation to internment is therefore not a new one. What has posed a problem more recently, mainly as a result of counter-terrorist operations conducted outside armed conflict, is the administrative detention, i.e. the detention without criminal charges, of persons suspected of various degrees of involvement in acts of terrorism. While international human rights law does not prohibit all forms of such detention (e.g., confinement, under certain circumstances, of immigrants with a view to expulsion), it has been argued that administrative detention for national security reasons is not one of them. A related but separate issue is whether and when cases of administrative detention require States to derogate from the right to liberty of person under the relevant human rights treaties.

The recent practice of States in drafting and implementing anti-terrorism legislation has shown that administrative detention is being increasingly used as a preventative tool in the fight against terrorism. However, it has also demonstrated wide divergences in the interpretation of human rights law as regards the procedural rights of persons affected. Moreover, there is no agreement at the international level on whether administrative detention for security reasons is lawful. While many States seem to think so, some non-governmental organizations and experts vigorously contest that approach.

In addition to obvious protection needs and in order to ensure consistency in its dialogue with various detaining authorities, the ICRC has developed institutional guidelines, entitled "Procedural Principles and Safeguards for Internment / Administrative Detention in Armed Conflict and Other Situations of Violence." The document, which reflects the ICRC's official position and now guides its operations, is appended to this report (Annex 1). It sets out a series of broad principles and specific safeguards that the ICRC believes should, at a minimum, govern any form of detention without criminal charges. The accompanying commentary serves to illustrate the sources – both treaty-based and other types, including policy and best practice – from which the standards were derived. It is important to stress that the principles and safeguards enunciated in the guidelines provide minimum standards that are meant to be further calibrated in each specific context of application.

An informal expert meeting on the procedural guarantees that should apply in situations of internment or administrative detention was co-organized by the ICRC and Case Western Reserve University in Ohio (USA) in September 2007 and may be the starting point of a subsequent broader discussion with States and other actors.

IV. THE CONDUCT OF HOSTILITIES

A number of current and recent armed conflicts have placed questions relating to the conduct of hostilities high on the agenda of legal and military debate. These questions have also aroused growing public interest, not least because of the many pictures and news stories carried by the media of civilians killed or injured and civilian property destroyed in the course of military operations. The twin issues of targeting and the choice of weapons are at the heart of the debate. The following sections therefore focus on methods and means of warfare.

1. General issues, in particular asymmetric warfare

In its report to the 28th International Conference in 2003, the ICRC presented a comprehensive survey of the main challenges for the law regulating the conduct of hostilities. The report highlighted the divergences in the interpretation of certain rules, such as those relating to the definition of a military objective, the principle of proportionality and the precautions in attack and against the effects of attacks. For the most part, this analysis remains pertinent today.

Research carried out for the ICRC's ICRC's Study on Customary International Humanitarian Law, published in 2005, shed further light on the rules applicable to the conduct of hostilities in international and non-international armed conflict. The Study confirmed that the main provisions of Additional Protocol I on the conduct of hostilities reflect customary law applicable in international armed conflicts. It also found that many of these provisions were customary in non-international armed conflicts. Thus, the development of customary law has largely filled gaps existing in treaty law, which is still fairly rudimentary.

It should nevertheless be noted that, for the most part, the relevant rules discussed in the study simply reiterate the provisions of Additional Protocol I and thus do not clarify existing divergences in the interpretation and application of certain rules on the conduct of hostilities. This should come as no surprise since the aim of the study was to examine the practice and *opinio iuris* of States in order to identify the content of customary law. The extensive review of practice collected on the subject did not allow for the formulation of customary rules that would be more detailed than the relevant treaty-based provisions.

It is also worth noting that the concrete application of the treaty-based and customary rules that were identified in the 2003 ICRC report as requiring clarification are probably even more challenging in today's conflict environment, which is increasingly characterized by asymmetric warfare (in particular owing to the growing involvement of non-State armed groups) and by urban warfare.

Asymmetric warfare

Asymmetric warfare is characterized by significant disparities between the military capacities of the belligerent parties. Its fundamental aim is to find a way round the adversary's military strength. Asymmetry often causes today's armed confrontations to take a more brutal turn, in which there is seemingly little place for the rule of law. While asymmetric warfare may have many facets, it specifically affects compliance with the most fundamental rules on the conduct of hostilities, namely the principle of distinction and the prohibition of perfidy. The following section focuses solely on challenges related to this facet, contains various illustrations and does not purport to be exhaustive.

When under attack, a belligerent party that is weaker in military strength and technological capacity may be tempted to hide from modern sophisticated means and methods of warfare. As a consequence, it may be led to engage in practices prohibited by IHL, such as feigning protected status, mingling combatants⁸ and military objectives with the civilian population and civilian objects, or using civilians as human shields. Such practices clearly increase the risk of incidental civilian casualties and damage. Provoking incidental civilian casualties and damage may sometimes even be deliberately sought by the party that is the object of the attack. The ultimate aim may be to benefit from the significant negative impression conveyed by media coverage of such incidents. The idea is to "generate" pictures of civilian deaths and injuries and thereby to undermine support for the continuation of the adversary's military action.

Technologically disadvantaged States or armed groups may tend to exploit the protected status of certain objects (such as religious or cultural sites, or medical units) in launching attacks. Methods of combat like feigning civilian, non-combatant status and carrying out military operations from amidst a crowd of civilians will often amount to perfidy. In addition, the weaker party often tends to direct strikes at "soft targets" because, in particular in modern societies, such attacks create the greatest damage or else because the party is unable to strike the military personnel or installations of the enemy. Consequently, violence is directed at civilians and civilian objects, sometimes in the form of suicide attacks. Resort to hostage-taking is also a more frequent phenomenon.

The dangers of asymmetry also relate to the means of warfare likely to be used by the disadvantaged forces. It appears more and more likely that States or armed groups that are powerless in the face of sophisticated weaponry will seek to acquire – or construct – chemical, biological and even possibly nuclear weapons (in particular, the "dirty bomb scenario"), against which traditional means of defending the civilian population and civilian objects are inadequate.

A militarily superior belligerent may tend to relax the standards of protection of civilian persons and civilian objects in response to constant violations of IHL by the adversary. For example, confronted with enemy combatants and military objectives that are persistently hidden among the civilian population and civilian objects, an attacker – who is legally bound by the prohibition of disproportionate attacks – may, in response to the adversary's strategy, progressively revise his assessment of the principle of proportionality and accept more incidental civilian casualties and damage. Another likely consequence could be a broader

-

⁷ Many different definitions of "asymmetric warfare" have been provided in the doctrine, but it is beyond the scope of this report to attempt to define the term. As used here, it simply denotes a relationship characterized by inequality between the belligerents – in particular in terms of weaponry. Asymmetry is certainly not a new phenomenon, but it is an increasing common feature of contemporary conflicts.

⁸ The notion of "combatant" is used here in its generic sense, indicating persons who do not enjoy the protection against attack granted to civilians, but does not imply a right to combatant or prisoner-of-war status. It therefore includes civilians directly participating in hostilities.

interpretation of what constitutes "direct participation in hostilities" (see Section 2 below). The militarily stronger party may also be tempted to adopt a broader interpretation of the notion of military objective. Such developments would make the civilian population as a whole more vulnerable to the effects of hostilities.

In sum, military imbalances carry incentives for the weaker party to level out its inferiority by disregarding existing rules on the conduct of hostilities. Faced with an enemy that systematically refuses to respect IHL, a belligerent may have the impression that legal prohibitions operate exclusively for the adversary's benefit. The real danger in such a situation is that the application of IHL will be perceived as detrimental by all the parties to a conflict ("spiral-down effect") and this will ultimately lead to all-around disregard for IHL and thus undermine its basic tenets.

Urban warfare

Similar challenges concerning the definition of a military objective and the interpretation of the principle of proportionality and of precautionary measures also arise from the spread of urban warfare. Military ground operations in urban settings are particularly complex: those resisting attack benefit from innumerable firing positions and may strike anywhere at anytime. The fear of surprise attacks is likely to reduce the attacker's armed forces ability to properly identify enemy forces and military objectives and to assess the incidental civilian casualties and damages that may ensue from its operations. Likewise, artillery and aerial bombardments of military objectives located in cities are complicated by the proximity of those objectives to the civilian population and civilian objects.

The ICRC believes that the challenges posed to IHL by asymmetric and urban warfare cannot a priori be solved by developments in treaty law. It must be stressed that in such circumstances, it is generally not the rules that are at fault, but the will or sometimes the ability of the parties to an armed conflict – and of the international community – to enforce them, in particular through criminal law. The ICRC recognizes that today's armed conflicts, especially asymmetric ones, pose serious threats to the rules derived from the principle of distinction. It is crucial to resist these threats and to make every effort to maintain and reinforce rules that are essential to protecting civilians, who so often bear the brunt of armed conflicts. The rules themselves are as pertinent to "new" types of conflicts and warfare as they were to the conflicts or forms of warfare that existed at the time when they were adopted. The fundamental values underlying these rules, which need to be safeguarded, are timeless. While it is conceivable that developments in IHL might occur in specific areas, such as in relation to restrictions and limitations on certain weapons, a major rewriting of existing treaties does not seem necessary for the time being.

Nevertheless, there is an ongoing need to assess the effectiveness of existing rules for the protection of civilians and civilian objects, to improve the implementation of those rules or to clarify the interpretation of specific concepts on which the rules are based. However, this must be done without disturbing the framework and underlying tenets of existing IHL, the aim of which is precisely to ensure the protection of civilians. Despite certain shortcomings in

⁹ Of particular concern is the thinking, which is not necessarily specific to asymmetric warfare, that advocates attacks on "non-military" targets in order to better achieve the desired effect(s) of military operations. For example, in order to lower the enemy's morale or turn the population against the government, a belligerent may decide to choose targets deemed not essential for the survival of the civilian population, such as entertainment or recreational facilities, stores or shops distributing luxury goods and the like, targets which do not correspond to the traditional definition of military objectives.

There is a link between the spread of urban and asymmetric warfare: technologically inferior belligerents, being unable to defend themselves on open ground, will often seek refuge in an urban environment. However, the link between the two is not automatic: disadvantaged forces in asymmetric warfare may also seek refuge in remote mountainous settings, for example; also, urban warfare is increasingly common in symmetric armed conflicts.

some of the rules governing the conduct of hostilities, mostly linked to imprecise wording, these rules continue to play an important role in limiting the use of weapons. Any further erosion of IHL may propel mankind backwards to a time when the use of armed force was almost boundless.

The 30th Round Table organized jointly by the International Institute of Humanitarian Law and the ICRC in San Remo from 6 to 8 September 2007 "revisited" the law on the conduct of hostilities (see programme in Annex 2). This topic, chosen to commemorate the centenary of the 1907 Hague Conventions, as well as the 30th anniversary of the first two Protocols additional to the Geneva Conventions, led to discussions on existing treaty law and on developments in the rules governing the conduct of hostilities. Emphasis was also placed on a prospective analysis of the issues raised by the implementation of the relevant rules and on possible solutions to the alleged shortcomings that may be problematic for those in charge of their practical application.

2. The notion of "direct participation in hostilities"

As far as the conduct of hostilities is concerned, IHL essentially distinguishes between two generic categories of persons, namely members of the armed forces, who conduct the hostilities on behalf of the parties to an armed conflict, and civilians, who are presumed to be peaceful¹¹ and must be protected against the dangers arising from military operations. While it is true that, throughout history, the civilian population has always contributed to the general war effort to a greater or lesser degree, such activities were typically conducted at some distance from the battlefield. They included, for example, the production or provision of arms, equipment, food and shelter, as well as economic, administrative and political support. Traditionally, only a small minority of civilians became involved in the actual conduct of military operations.

Recent decades have seen this pattern change radically. There has been a continuous shift of military operations away from distinct battlefields into civilian population centres, as well as an increasing involvement of civilians in activities more closely related to the actual conduct of hostilities. Even more recently, there has been a trend towards the "civilianization" of the armed forces, by which is meant the introduction of large numbers of private contractors, as well as intelligence personnel and other civilian government employees, into the reality of modern armed conflict. Moreover, in a number of contemporary armed conflicts, military operations have attained an unprecedented level of complexity and have involved a great variety of interdependent human and technical resources, including remotely operated weapons systems, computer networks and satellite reconnaissance or guidance systems.

Overall, the increasingly blurred distinction between civilian and military functions, the intermingling of armed actors with the peaceful civilian population, the wide variety of tasks and activities performed by civilians in contemporary armed conflicts and the complexity of modern means and methods of warfare have caused confusion and uncertainty as to how the principle of distinction should be implemented in the conduct of hostilities. These difficulties are further aggravated wherever armed actors do not distinguish themselves from the civilian population, such as during the conduct of clandestine or covert military operations or when persons act as "farmers by day and fighters by night." As a result, peaceful civilians are more likely to fall victim to erroneous, unnecessary or arbitrary targeting, while members of the armed forces, unable to properly identify their adversary, run an increased risk of being attacked by persons they cannot distinguish from peaceful civilians – at the same time as they must, and should have been trained to, protect civilians.

-

¹¹ This term is used to denote civilians who do not take a direct part in hostilities.

Key legal questions

This trend has emphasized the importance of distinguishing not only between civilians and the armed forces, but also between civilians who do not participate directly in hostilities and civilians "directly participating in hostilities." Under IHL, the notion of "direct participation in hostilities" describes individual conduct which, if carried out by civilians, suspends their protection against the dangers arising from military operations. Most notably, for the duration of their direct participation in hostilities, civilians may be directly attacked as if they were combatants. The notion of "direct" or "active" participation in hostilities, which is derived from Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions, is found in multiple provisions of IHL. However, despite the serious legal consequences involved, neither the Geneva Conventions nor their Additional Protocols provide a definition of what conduct amounts to direct participation in hostilities. Answers are therefore needed to the following three questions in relation to both international and non-international armed conflict:

- Who is considered a civilian for the purpose of conducting hostilities? The answer to this question will delimit the circle of persons who are protected against direct attack "unless and for such time as they directly participate in hostilities."
- What conduct amounts to direct participation in hostilities? The answer to this question will define the individual conduct that entails the suspension of a civilian's right to protection against direct attack.
- What are the precise conditions under which civilians directly participating in hostilities
 lose their protection against direct attack? The answer to this question will elucidate
 issues such as the duration of the loss of civilian protection, the precautions and
 presumptions that apply in case of doubt, the restraints imposed by IHL on the use of
 force against lawful targets and the consequences of restoring civilian protection.

ICRC initiative

In 2003, the ICRC, in cooperation with the TMC Asser Institute, initiated a process of research and expert reflection on the notion of "direct participation in hostilities" under IHL. The aim was to identify the constitutive elements of the notion and provide guidance for its interpretation in both international and non-international armed conflict. The emphasis was placed on interpreting the notion of "direct participation" in relation to the conduct of hostilities only and did not, or only very marginally, address the legal regime applicable in the event of capture or detention of persons having directly participated in hostilities. Moreover, the expert process was concerned with the analysis and interpretation of IHL only, without prejudice to questions which might be raised by the direct participation of civilians in hostilities under other regimes of international law, such as, most notably, human rights law or, where cross-border operations are concerned, the law regulating the use of inter-State force.

Four informal expert meetings were held in The Hague and in Geneva between 2003 and 2006.¹³ Each meeting brought together 40 to 50 legal experts from military, governmental and academic circles, as well as from international and non-governmental organizations, attending in a personal capacity.

The *first expert meeting* laid the foundations for the research and led to the unanimous conclusion that the notion of direct participation in hostilities required further interpretation and that the ICRC should take the lead in this process. The *second expert meeting* delved

¹² Article 51(3) of Additional Protocol I; Article 13(3) of Additional Protocol II; Rule 6, Henckaerts, Doswald-Beck, *Customary International Humanitarian Law*, Geneva, ICRC, 2005.

¹³ The Hague on 2 June 2003, The Hague on 25 and 26 October 2004, Geneva from 23 to 25 October 2005 and Geneva on 27 and 28 November 2006. An overview of the discussions and of the various views expressed during the expert meetings is provided in the summary reports, which are available at: http://www.icrc.org/web/eng/siteeng0.nsf/html/participation-hostilities-ihl311205).

deeper into the topic on the basis of an extensive questionnaire, which was distributed to the experts before the meeting and which focused on a wide range of practical examples and theoretical issues. The *third expert meeting* addressed some of the most complex legal issues relating to the topic, such as the implications of membership in organized armed groups during non-international armed conflicts as regards the applicability of the rule on direct participation in hostilities, the duration of the loss of protection, and the presence of private contractors and civilian employees in conflict areas.

Following these meetings, the organizers prepared a draft "Interpretive Guidance" document on the notion of direct participation in hostilities for discussion during the *fourth expert meeting*. The comments received during that meeting led to a revised version of the document, which was submitted to the experts for a round of written comments in July 2007. Taking those comments into account, the organizers will finalize the document.

The "Interpretive Guidance" document will endeavour to present a coherent interpretation of IHL as far as it relates to the direct participation of civilians in hostilities. The document, along with the complete proceedings of the expert process, is to be published in the course of 2008.

3. Regulating the use of cluster munitions

The use of cluster munitions is certainly not the only weapons-related issue of concern in the framework of contemporary armed conflict. However, it has recently come to the forefront of the international debate on means and methods of warfare. Given that the challenges posed by cluster munitions are closely linked to the core rules on the conduct of hostilities (distinction, prohibition of indiscriminate attacks, proportionality and precautions), the topic is addressed here.

Cluster munitions: A persistent problem

Cluster munitions have been a persistent problem for decades. In nearly every armed conflict in which they have been used, significant numbers of cluster munitions have failed to detonate as intended. Long after the fighting has ended, they have continued to claim the lives and limbs of innumerable civilians, with tragic social and economic consequences for entire communities. In Laos and Afghanistan – for example – cluster munitions used in the 1970s and 1980s still kill and injure civilians today. Because they have contaminated large swathes of land, unexploded submunitions have also made farming a dangerous activity and hindered development and re-construction. In both countries, the clearance of these weapons and other explosive remnants of war has consumed scarce national and international resources.

Unfortunately, more recent conflicts have only added to the list of States already dealing with the consequences of these weapons. Eritrea, Ethiopia, Iraq, Lebanon, Serbia, and Sudan are examples of countries in which cluster munitions have been used in the last decade. Like Afghanistan and Laos, they are now having to deal with this deadly legacy of war.

The concerns raised by cluster munitions, however, are not limited to the post-conflict and long-term effects of unexploded submunitions. They include the dangers posed by these weapons during armed conflicts as well, even when they function as intended. Cluster munitions distribute large numbers of explosive submunitions over very wide areas. Some models will saturate a target area of up to 30,000 square metres. In addition, the accuracy of the released submunitions is often highly dependent on wind, weather conditions, and the reliability of complex delivery systems. As a result, it is difficult to control the effects of these weapons and there is a serious risk of significant civilian casualties, particularly where military objectives and civilians intermingle in a target area.

Concerns under international humanitarian law

No IHL treaty has specific rules governing cluster munitions. However, the characteristics and consequences of these weapons raise serious questions as to whether they can be used in accordance with fundamental rules of IHL. Some of the key questions are outlined below.

1. There are concerns as to whether cluster munitions may be used against military objectives in populated areas in accordance with *the rules of IHL concerning distinction* and *the prohibition of indiscriminate attacks*. These rules are intended to ensure that attacks are directed at specific military objectives and are not of a nature to strike military objects and civilians or civilian objects without distinction.

As indicated earlier, most cluster munitions are designed to disperse large numbers of submunitions over very wide areas. In addition, many types of submunitions are free-falling and use parachutes or ribbons to slow and arm themselves. This means that these explosives can be blown by the wind or diverted from their intended target when released at an incorrect airspeed or altitude. They can often land in areas other than the specific military objective targeted.

In addition, the wide-area effects of these weapons and the large number of unguided submunitions released would appear to make it difficult, if not impossible, to distinguish between military objectives and civilians or civilian objects in a populated target area.

2. There are also concerns arising in relation to *the rule of proportionality*. This rule recognizes that civilian casualties and damage to civilian objects may occur during an attack against a legitimate military objective but requires, if an attack is to proceed, that the incidental impact on civilians not outweigh the military advantage anticipated. An attack that causes excessive incidental civilian casualties or damage in relation to the concrete and direct military advantage anticipated would be disproportionate and therefore prohibited.

It is clear that implementing the rule of proportionality during the planning and execution of an attack using cluster munitions must include an evaluation of the foreseeable incidental consequences for civilians during the attack (immediate death and injury) and consideration of the foreseeable effects of submunitions that become explosive remnants of war (ERW). With regard to ERW, this was most recently confirmed in the Final Declaration of the Third Review Conference of the Convention on Certain Conventional Weapons (CCW), in which States party noted "the foreseeable effects of explosive remnants of war on civilian populations as a factor to be considered in applying the international humanitarian law rules on proportionality in attack and precautions in attack."

The principal issue in this regard is what is meant by "foreseeable." Is it credible to argue today that the short-, mid- or long-term consequences of unexploded submunitions are unforeseeable, particularly when these weapons are used in or near populated areas? As we know from past conflicts, civilians present in a target area will predictably need to gather food and water, seek medical care and conduct other daily activities which put them at risk. If they have left the area during the hostilities, it is quite foreseeable that they will return at the earliest opportunity and be at risk from unexploded submunitions.

3. **The rules on feasible precautions** are particularly important when cluster munitions are used, given their effects both during and after a conflict.¹⁴ These rules require that both sides take specific action to reduce the chances that civilians or civilian objects be mistakenly attacked and to minimize civilian casualties when an attack is launched. Such action includes careful selection and verification of targets, the cancellation or suspension of attacks, the

¹⁴ Additional Protocol I (Articles 57 and 58) and customary international law.

dissemination of warnings before an attack and efforts to avoid locating military objectives in populated areas.

The main issue here is how the rules on feasible precautions in attack are implemented in the light of the known characteristics and foreseeable effects of cluster munitions. Implementing the obligation to take all feasible precautions in the choice of means and methods of attack with a view to avoiding, and in any event to minimizing, incidental civilian casualties and damages would require, for example, that a party consider the accuracy of the cluster munition and its targeting system, the size of the dispersal pattern, the amount of ERW likely to result, the presence of civilians and their proximity to military objectives, and the use of alternative munitions and tactics. It could also require that submunitions not be used in populated areas and that alternative weapons be considered. Given the range of possible measures, why do high levels of civilian casualties resulting from cluster munitions remain a regular and predictable feature of conflicts in which these weapons are used? The persistence of this problem raises questions concerning the extent to which the rules on feasible precautions are being applied in the case of cluster munitions.

4. An important step towards reducing the <u>post-conflict</u> impact of cluster submunitions and other ERW was taken in 2003 when States party to the CCW adopted the *Protocol on Explosive Remnants of War.* The Protocol, which entered into force on 12 November 2006, provides an important framework for reducing the post-conflict dangers posed by all forms of unexploded and abandoned ordnance. The International Red Cross and Red Crescent Movement has called on all States to adhere to this landmark agreement at the earliest opportunity.

However, the Protocol does not contain legally binding measures to <u>prevent</u> the steady increase in the global burden of explosive remnants of war. The scale of the problem is growing far more rapidly than clearance operations can remedy it. One of the greatest contributors to this burden, when they are used, is cluster munitions. The Protocol also does not address the high risk of indiscriminate effects from a cluster-munitions attack when the submunitions <u>do</u> detonate as intended, particularly if the attack is in a populated area.

ICRC action

The ICRC and many National Societies have been urging governments to take urgent steps to address the problem of cluster munitions. In order to consider ways of doing this, the ICRC organized a meeting in Montreux, Switzerland (18 to 20 April 2007) for government and independent experts. The meeting produced a frank and in-depth exchange of views on many of the humanitarian, military, technical and legal issues relating to cluster munitions and considered ways of reducing their impact on civilian populations.

The ICRC believes that the specific characteristics of cluster munitions, their history of causing severe problems from a humanitarian standpoint, particularly when used against military objectives in populated areas, and the questions raised above strongly argue for the development of specific rules to regulate these weapons. In view of recent international developments and the insights gained at the Montreux meeting, the ICRC is of the opinion that a new IHL treaty regulating cluster munitions should be concluded. The treaty should (i) prohibit the use, development, production, stockpiling and transfer of inaccurate and unreliable cluster munitions; (ii) require the elimination of current stocks of inaccurate and unreliable cluster munitions; and (iii) provide for victim assistance, the clearance of cluster munitions and activities to minimize the impact of these weapons on civilian populations. Until such a treaty is adopted, the ICRC believes that States should, on an individual basis, immediately end the use of such weapons, prohibit their transfer and destroy existing stocks.

An international agreement of this type would, if adopted, go a long way towards reducing the future impact of cluster munitions. The ICRC will, as a matter of urgency, continue to work with governments and National Societies to advance the negotiation and conclusion of a new IHL treaty on cluster munitions.

V. NON-INTERNATIONAL ARMED CONFLICTS

The majority of contemporary armed conflicts are not of an international character. The daily lives of many civilians caught up in these conflicts are ruled by fear and extreme suffering. The deliberate targeting of civilians, the looting and destruction of civilian property, the forced displacement of the population, the use of civilians as human shields, the destruction of infrastructure vital to civilians, rape and other forms of sexual violence, torture, indiscriminate attacks: these and other acts of violence are unfortunately all too common in non-international armed conflicts throughout the world. The challenges presented by these conflicts are, to a certain extent, related to a lack of applicable rules, but more importantly, to a lack of respect for IHL.

Substantive challenges

Article 3 common to the four Geneva Conventions laid down the first rules to be observed by parties to non-international armed conflicts. These rules protect persons not or no longer taking an active part in hostilities by prohibiting murder, mutilation, torture, cruel treatment, the taking of hostages, and outrages upon personal dignity, in particular humiliating and degrading treatment. The passing of sentences without the observance of "all the judicial guarantees which are recognized as indispensable by civilized peoples" is also prohibited. The article states that the obligations listed constitute a "minimum" safety net that the parties are bound to observe.

Over time, the protections set out in common Article 3 came to be regarded as so fundamental to preserving a measure of humanity in war that they are now referred to as "elementary considerations of humanity" that must be observed in all types of armed conflict as a matter of customary international law. ¹⁵ Common Article 3 has thus become a baseline from which no departure, under any circumstances, is allowed. It applies to the treatment of all persons in enemy hands, regardless of how they may be legally or politically classified or in whose custody they may be held.

The law governing non-international armed conflict has gone through constant development since it was first codified, in particular with the adoption, in 1977, of Protocol II additional to the Geneva Conventions, which "develops and supplements Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions." However, treaty law may be said to still fall short of meeting some essential protection needs in non-international armed conflicts.

The rudimentary nature of treaty law has been partly overcome by the development of customary international law over the last 30 years. To Customary rules have the advantage of

¹⁵ International Court of Justice, *Nicaragua v. United States*, para. 218.

¹⁶ Other treaties applicable to non-international armed conflicts include the 1980 Convention on Prohibitions or Restrictions on the Use of Certain Conventional Weapons which May be Deemed to be Excessively Injurious or to Have Indiscriminate Effects and its Protocols, and the 1954 Hague Convention for the Protection of Cultural Property in the Event of Armed Conflict.

¹⁷ See Henckaerts, Doswald-Beck, *Customary International Humanitarian Law*, Geneva, ICRC, 2005: Out of 161 existing customary rules identified in this study, 147 are considered to be applicable in such situations. In some areas, the rules are identical or similar to those provided by treaty law, in particular by Additional Protocol II. In other areas, the study identified rules that go beyond current treaty law and have therefore contributed to filling gaps in the regulation of internal armed conflicts.

being applicable to all parties to an armed conflict – State and non-State – independent of any formal ratification process. In substance, they fill certain gaps and regulate some issues that are not sufficiently addressed in treaty law, in particular in relation to the conduct of hostilities. The crystallization of customary law therefore both extended and strengthened the rules of IHL applicable in non-international armed conflicts. However, while customary international law is as much a source of international law as is treaty law, its rules or contents are frequently challenged owing to its mostly non-written form. In addition, there are still areas in which treaty law and customary law remain limited. Some of these are mentioned elsewhere in this report:

- Article 3 common to the four Geneva Conventions sets out minimum obligations with respect to persons who are detained. However, it does not provide guidance for all aspects of detention to which it may apply. It does not, for example, spell out procedural safeguards for internment, which is a form of deprivation of liberty imposed for imperative reasons of security that is recognized by humanitarian law (see Chapter III). In the ICRC's view, other bodies and sources of law, as well as appropriate policies, should be relied on to develop a regime consistent with common Article 3. The ICRC institutional position annexed to this report takes cognizance of this (Annex 1).
- Despite the significant development of customary international law, certain issues relating to the *law on the conduct of hostilities*, namely the notion of direct participation in hostilities, deserve further examination.

Other challenges, either to the rules themselves or to the facts on the ground, relate to the scope of application of treaty law. Determining if and when a given situation amounts to a non-international armed conflict remains sometimes difficult.

In certain cases, for example, it is unclear whether a group resorting to violence can be considered as a "party to the conflict" within the meaning of common Article 3. Apart from the level of violence involved, the nature of the non-governmental group must also be taken into account when a situation is qualified in legal terms. Where the internal structure of the group is loose or where a clandestine chain of command is at play, the question that arises is whether the group is sufficiently organized to be characterized as a party to an armed conflict. Such determinations must be made on a case-by-case basis. ¹⁸ Only when the level of violence and the parties involved meet the requirements for a non-international armed conflict do the relevant rules of IHL apply.

In conclusion, despite the development of customary international law, the clarification and possibly the development of the law applicable in non-international armed conflicts remains a major challenge.

In addition to these legal challenges, the law governing non-international armed conflict faces other challenges in practice, the most prominent of which is probably asymmetric warfare. However, the answer to the challenges posed by it does not seem to lie in the legal domain – in particular in the development of IHL. Conduct by the militarily inferior party (often the non-State party), which is regularly condemned in this type of warfare, already involves serious violations of IHL and may entail individual criminal responsibility (attacks against civilians, civilian objects and specially protected objects, the use of human shields, hostage-taking, etc.) A relaxation of the obligations of the militarily superior party in reaction to violations by the other side is not an option either. Such a step would lead first to a weakening and then to an erosion of various types of protection for which the international community has fought for a long time. This would almost inevitably lead to serious violations of life, physical integrity and dignity thus far prohibited by IHL. States and other actors that may be too quick to claim

-

¹⁸ See also "IHL and Terrorism"

that the law is no longer adequate in dealing with contemporary forms of armed violence should bear this in mind.

Taking these considerations into account, the ICRC plans to examine current and new types of armed violence and assess the current status of the law of non-international armed conflict, in the light of treaty law and customary international law. On the basis of the results, it will evaluate whether there is a need for further clarification or development of the law with a view to strengthening the protection of persons and objects affected by non-international armed conflicts.

Respect for IHL in non-international armed conflicts

Discussions at the regional expert seminars organized by the ICRC in 2003 showed that improving compliance with IHL is most challenging in non-international armed conflicts, especially in relation to non-State parties to such conflicts. Specific circumstances, such as the increasingly fragmented nature of armed conflicts occurring in weak or failed States, the asymmetric nature of most conflicts and the growing involvement of civilians in hostilities tend to undermine observance of the law. Against this background, looking for new ways of achieving better implementation and enforcement of humanitarian law must be seen as a priority.

It should be noted that considerable efforts have been made over the last 15 years to ensure that individuals responsible for serious violations of IHL are prosecuted and punished. Ad hoc tribunals have been established, as well as the International Criminal Court and special or mixed tribunals. While these developments should continue, particular attention must also be paid to improving compliance with IHL while an armed conflict is going on. It is of utmost importance that preventive mechanisms be consolidated if the law is to fulfil its protective role. States have a crucial role to play in such an effort.

At the suggestion of the experts convened for the regional seminars, the ICRC has focused its attention on this aspect of the problem. One result has been the publication of *Increasing Respect for International Humanitarian Law in Non-International Armed Conflic*ts (Annex 3). This publication is based on ICRC experience in non-international armed conflicts. It summarizes some of the considerable challenges the ICRC has faced and the lessons it has learnt in its efforts to increase respect for IHL. It also includes an overview of the dissemination activities, the legal tools, and the methods of persuasion that the ICRC has used for improving compliance with IHL. The main findings are outlined in the following paragraphs. In addition, to the tools presented, it should not be forgotten that States not involved in a non-international have a role to play – individually or collectively – in ensuring respect for IHL, also with regard to non-State armed actors. This responsibility exists to the extent that States have or can have some influence on the behaviour have the parties to an armed conflict. It is not an obligation to reach a specific result, but rather an "obligation of means" on States to take all appropriate measures possible, in an attempt to end IHL violations.

When seeking to engage with the parties to non-international armed conflicts and to improve their compliance with IHL, the ICRC has faced the following challenges:

Diversity of conflicts and parties

Non-international armed conflicts differ enormously. They range from those that resemble conventional warfare, similar to international armed conflicts, to those that are essentially unstructured. The parties – whether States or organized armed groups – vary widely in character. Depth of knowledge of the law, motives for taking part in an armed conflict, interest in or need for international recognition or political legitimacy all have a direct impact on a party's compliance with the law. Organized armed groups, in

particular, are extremely diverse. They range from those that are highly centralized (with a strong hierarchy, effective chain of command, communication capabilities, etc.) to those that are decentralized (with semi-autonomous or splinter factions operating under an ill-defined leadership structure). Groups may also differ in relation to the extent of their territorial control, their capacity to train members, and the disciplinary or punitive measures that are taken against members who violate IHL.

Denial of applicability of IHL

Not infrequently, a party to a non-international armed conflict – either a State or an armed group – will deny the applicability of humanitarian law. Governmental authorities, for example, might disagree that a particular situation qualifies as an armed conflict. They might claim instead that it is a situation of "tension" or one that involves banditry or terrorist activities that do not amount to a non-international armed conflict, as recognition that such an armed conflict is taking place would, in their view, implicitly grant "legitimacy" to the armed group. Non-State armed groups might also deny the applicability of IHL on the grounds that it is a body of law created by States and that they cannot be bound by obligations ratified by the government against whom they are fighting. In such cases, the law will seldom be a relevant frame of reference, especially for groups whose actions are shaped by strong ideology.

Lack of political will to implement humanitarian law

A party may have no – or not enough – political will to comply with the provisions of humanitarian law. Where the objective of a party to a non-international armed conflict is itself contrary to the principles, rules and spirit of humanitarian law, there will be no political will to implement the law.

Ignorance of the law

In many non-international armed conflicts, bearers of arms with little or no training in IHL are directly involved in the fighting. This ignorance of the law significantly impedes efforts to increase respect for IHL and to regulate the behaviour of the parties to conflicts.

Based on its long experience in situations of non-international armed conflict, the ICRC has drawn a number of lessons which could be helpful to more effectively address parties to non-international armed conflicts with a view to an improved respect for IHL.

Present the law "strategically"

Merely making the parties to an armed conflict aware of the law or of their specific obligations is not enough to ensure compliance. The law should be presented and discussed "strategically," in a manner that is relevant and adapted to the context, and as part of a deliberate plan to engage the parties. This is necessary if parties are to develop a receptive attitude towards the law, which is the first step towards compliance. To present the law "strategically" implies knowing and understanding a party's motivations and interests. This will make it easier to explain why it is in the party's interest to observe the law. Arguments may be based on the following considerations: military efficacy and discipline; expectation of reciprocal respect and mutual interest; reputation (adherence to IHL can improve the party's image or public standing), appeal to core cultural values that mirror those of IHL, long-term interests (e.g. facilitation of post-conflict national reconciliation and a return to peace) and the risk of criminal prosecution.

Understand and adapt to the unique characteristics of the conflict and the parties

Given the great diversity of armed conflicts and parties, there is no uniform approach to the problem of lack of respect for humanitarian law. Any effort to increase respect for the law will be more effective if it takes into account the unique characteristics of a specific situation. This is especially true with regard to the parties themselves. It is particularly helpful to know and to understand a party's motivations and interests in order to explain why it is in the party's interest to comply with the law.

Work in the context of a long-term process of engagement

Attempts to influence the behaviour of parties to a non-international armed conflict will be most effective if they are part of a process of engaging and building up a relationship with each of those parties. Carried out over the long term, such a process will also provide opportunities for acquiring insight into the characteristics of the parties and thus form a basis for discussing the law "strategically." It will also lead to opportunities for addressing issues such as the party's political will and capacity to comply with the law.

In addition to dissemination and training activities, which are crucial to making the rules of IHL known and to building a foundation for discussions concerning respect for the law, a number of legal tools have been used by the ICRC and other humanitarian actors in their efforts to improve compliance with humanitarian law by parties to non-international armed conflicts. Such tools do not themselves guarantee increased respect, but they nevertheless provide a basis on which legal representations can be made and on which accountability can be required. These tools, which are inter-related and reinforce each other, include the following:

- Special agreements between the parties to non-international armed conflicts whereby they explicitly commit themselves to comply with humanitarian law (see Article 3 common to the four Geneva Conventions)
- Unilateral declarations (or "declarations of intention") by armed groups party to noninternational armed conflicts whereby they commit themselves to comply with IHL
- Inclusion of humanitarian law in codes of conduct for armed groups
- References to humanitarian law in ceasefire or peace agreements
- Grants of amnesty for mere participation in hostilities

It is hoped that the contents of the publication *Increasing Respect for International Humanitarian Law in Non-International Armed Conflicts*, which have only been summarized here, will serve to inform and assist others who might wish to undertake efforts to increase respect for IHL in non-international armed conflicts.

VI. REGULATING PRIVATE MILITARY AND PRIVATE SECURITY COMPANIES

Over the last few years, the traditional roles of the State and its armed forces in wartime have increasingly been contracted out to private military and security companies (PMCs / PSCs). While the presence of these companies in conflict situations is not new, their numbers have grown and, more significantly, the nature of their activities has changed. In addition to the more traditional logistical support, PMCs / PSCs have been involved more and more in activities that bring them close to the heart of military operations – and thereby into close proximity to persons protected by IHL. These activities include protecting military personnel and assets, training and advising armed forces, maintaining weapons systems, interrogating detainees and sometimes even fighting.

Many of the discussions relating to PMCs / PSCs centre on the legitimacy of outsourcing the use of force and on the question of whether there should be formal limits placed on the right of States to do so. Whatever the outcome of those discussions, the only realistic assumption in the medium term is that the presence of PMCs / PSCs in armed conflicts is bound to increase. The tendency of many States to downsize their armed forces means that there will be fewer troops available for active combat. Given the highly complex nature of modern weapons systems, the armed forces are also increasingly dependent on outside expertise in this area. PMCs / PSCs will also continue to be hired by States whose armies are understaffed or insufficiently trained. Even some international and non-governmental organizations now use the services of PMCs / PSCs for their own security. It is not to be excluded that in the future armed opposition groups will also hire PMCs / PSCs. It is likewise possible, although it appears unlikely for the moment, that PMCs / PSCs will be hired for multinational military operations if States cannot provide the troops required.

Given its exclusively humanitarian mandate, the ICRC's interests lie not in joining the debate over the legitimacy of the use of private companies in armed conflicts but rather in finding ways of bringing about greater compliance with IHL. The question for the ICRC is not whether PMCs / PSCs should be present in armed conflicts but rather what IHL says when they are. What are the obligations of PMCs / PSCs and their staff and what are the obligations of States? This is the focus of the following section of the report.

It is sometimes said that PMCs / PSCs operate in a legal vacuum, that international law gives no answers as to how violations committed by their staff should be handled. This has been the tenor of numerous media reports. Such a broad statement is incorrect from a legal point of view and it is important to stress that obligations do exist in that regard. However, it is also true that there are problems of implementation due to the unwillingness or inability of States and other parties to uphold the rules in practice. Moreover, existing international rules are sometimes so broadly formulated as to require clarification in order to give practical and realistic guidance as to how States should transpose them into their national legal systems and practice. This is the case, in particular, with regard to two main issues:

- 1. The status, rights and obligations of the employees of PMCs / PSCs
- 2. The obligation of States to respect and ensure respect for IHL in connection with the activities of PMCs / PSCs

While the former question is rather clear as a matter of law, although often confusing in practice, the latter requires further clarification.

Status, rights and obligations of the employees of PMCs / PSCs

PMCs / PSCs are private companies. While IHL is binding on non-State actors, this is only the case insofar as they are parties to an armed conflict (namely, organized armed groups). As legal entities, private companies are not bound by IHL, contrary to their staff who, as individuals, must abide by IHL in armed conflicts.

Individuals working for private companies in armed conflicts have rights and obligations under IHL – but there is no single status covering all employees. The status of each individual depends on the particular situation in which he or she is operating and the role that he or she performs. Also, the attitude towards mercenaries, which is often emotionally charged and highly political, tends to complicate the legal examination of their status.

In international armed conflicts, employees of PMCs / PSCs can fall into any of several legal categories:

First of all, they can be members of the armed forces in the sense of Article 4(A)(1) and (3) of the Third Geneva Convention¹⁹ if they are incorporated into those forces, as has been the case in a number of instances. Far more frequently, however, States resort to PMCs / PSCs because they are downsizing their own armed forces. Thus, there are likely to be few instances where PMCs / PSCs form part of the armed forces.

Secondly, employees of PMCs / PSCs can be militias or other volunteer corps belonging to a State party to an armed conflict within the meaning of Article 4(A)(2) of the Third Geneva Convention. ²⁰ This is the case if, in a situation of international armed conflict, they constitute a group "belonging to" a party to the conflict and fulfil the four criteria defining that group: to be under responsible command, to have a fixed distinctive sign, to carry arms openly and to obey the laws and customs of war.

Thirdly, a number of employees of PMCs / PSCs are likely to fall into the category of civilians accompanying the armed forces within the meaning of Article 4(A)(4) of the Third Geneva Convention – one of the examples explicitly mentioned in that article are civilian members of military aircraft crews or supply contractors. It is important to stress that civilians accompanying the armed forces remain civilians. While they are entitled to prisoner-of-war status in an international armed conflict, they are not, as civilians, entitled to directly participate in hostilities and can arguably be prosecuted under domestic law for doing so. However, not all contractors will fall into the category of civilians accompanying the armed forces. In order for a person to qualify as such, there must be a real link, namely he or she must provide a service to the armed forces, not merely to the State.

In fact, given the limitations on all the above categories, the majority of PMC / PSC employees will fall into the category of civilians. As such, they benefit from the protection afforded to civilians under IHL. In international armed conflicts, they are covered by the Fourth Geneva Convention (as long as they fulfil the nationality criteria set out in Article 4), Additional Protocol I and customary law. In non-international armed conflicts, they come under common Article 3, Additional Protocol II and customary law. If they participate directly in hostilities, however, they lose the protection from attack afforded to them as civilians in both types of conflict.

Lastly, in relation to status, the term "mercenary" must be mentioned, as it is often used, particularly by the media, to describe PMC / PSC employees. From a strictly legal point of view, this description is incorrect in most cases owing to the narrow definition given to the term under IHL. In order to qualify as a "mercenary" under IHL, a person must meet each of the following six criteria: he or she must (1) have been recruited specially to fight in an armed conflict, (2) in fact be taking a direct part in hostilities, (3) be motivated essentially by the desire for private gain; (4) be neither a national of a party to the conflict nor a resident of any territory controlled by a party to the conflict, (5) not be a member of the armed forces of a party to the conflict, (6) not have been sent by a State that is not a party to the armed conflict on official duty as a member of its own armed forces. A number of these criteria may lead to the exclusion of most PMC / PSC staff from the category of "mercenary" as defined under IHL. This is because, first of all, most PMC / PSC employees are not specifically contracted to fight in an armed conflict and do not take a direct part in hostilities. They are quite often hired to provide other services, for example in the areas of training, personal security or intelligence. Secondly, all nationals of one of the parties to the conflict are excluded. Lastly, simply by incorporating them into its armed forces, a State wishing to use PMCs / PSCs can avoid having its staff considered as mercenaries even if all the other conditions are met.

In any event, from the point of view of IHL applicable in international armed conflicts, a person who falls into the category of mercenary is not considered a combatant and has no

¹⁹ See also Article 43 of Additional Protocol I.

²⁰ Ibid.

right to prisoner-of-war status (Article 47 of Additional Protocol I). Consequently, mercenaries can be prosecuted under domestic law for directly participating in hostilities. Nonetheless, provided they fulfil the nationality criteria set out in Article 4 of the Fourth Geneva Convention, mercenaries are protected persons (within the limits set by Article 5 of that Convention). Otherwise, the provisions of Article 75 of Additional Protocol I would apply to them as a matter of treaty law or customary international law.

States remain, of course, free to prohibit PMCs / PSCs altogether, or to prohibit certain services they provide, such as those involving direct participation in hostilities. For instance, States party to the International Convention against the Recruitment, Use, Financing and Training of Mercenaries and the Convention for the Elimination of Mercenarism in Africa have an obligation to criminalise mercenarism in their internal domestic order. The issue of mercenarism is closely linked to the question as to how much a State can and should outsource the use of force and remains important. IHL, however, does not address that question.

Obligations of States

States have a number of obligations under international law with regard to the activities of PMCs / PSCs. These obligations need to be clarified in order for States to put adequate legislation and mechanisms into place.

Under Article 1 common to the four Geneva Conventions, all States have an obligation to respect and ensure respect for IHL. Several categories of States have a role to play, in particular: States that hire PMCs / PSCs, States on whose territory PMCs / PSCs operate, States in whose jurisdictions PMCs / PSCs are incorporated, and States whose nationals are PMC / PSC employees.

States that hire PMCs / PSCs have the closest relationship with them. At the outset, it is important to stress that those States themselves remain responsible for respecting and fulfilling their obligations under IHL. For instance, Article 12 of the Third Geneva Convention clearly stipulates that whoever is individually responsible, the detaining power remains responsible for the treatment of prisoners of war. This close relationship also means that States can be directly responsible for the acts of PMCs / PSCs when these are attributable to them under the law of State responsibility, particularly if the PMCs / PSCs are empowered to exercise elements of governmental authority or if they act on the instructions or under the direction or control of State authorities.

In addition, States contracting a PMC / PSC have an obligation to ensure respect for IHL by the company. This is a rather broad legal obligation, but best practice gives an indication of how it can be fulfilled by States. For instance, States could include certain requirements in the company's contract, such as adequate training in IHL, the exclusion of specific activities such as participation in military operations or the vetting of employees to ensure they have not committed violations in the past.

Lastly, States that hire PMCs / PSCs, like all other States, must repress war crimes and suppress other violations of IHL committed by PMC / PSC staff.

States on whose territory PMCs / PSCs operate also have an obligation to ensure that IHL is respected within their jurisdictions. In practice, this can be done by enacting regulations providing a legal framework for the activities of PMCs / PSCs. For instance, States could establish a registration system imposing certain criteria for PMCs / PSCs; or they can have a licensing system, either for individual companies, or for specific pre-defined services, or on a case-by-case basis for each service.

States in whose jurisdictions PMCs / PSCs are incorporated or have their headquarters likewise have an obligation to ensure respect for IHL. They are particularly well-placed to take practical, effective measures because, like States on whose territory PMCs / PSCs operate, they have the possibility to regulate and license PMCs / PSCs. They could enact regulations requiring that PMCs / PSCs meet a number of conditions to operate lawfully, for instance that their employees receive appropriate training and be put through an adequate vetting process.

Lastly, **States whose nationals are PMC / PSC employees** should be mentioned. While these States may have virtually no link to the company as such or to the operation, they have a strong jurisdictional link to the employees and may thus be well-placed to exercise criminal jurisdiction over them should they commit violations of IHL, even abroad.

In short, different States have obligations under IHL. Taken together, these obligations form quite an extensive international legal framework surrounding the operations of PMCs / PSCs. Some of the obligations are relatively broad, and there is a need for guidance so that States can put them into practice. There are a variety of ways in which this can be done effectively and in which remaining gaps in accountability can be filled.

The Swiss initiative on PMCs / PSCs (carried out in cooperation with the ICRC)

In view of the increasing presence of PMCs / PSCs in armed conflicts, the government of Switzerland has launched an initiative to promote respect for IHL and propose ways of dealing with the issue. The objectives of the initiative²¹ are:

- 1. to contribute to the intergovernmental debate on the issues raised by the use of private military and security companies;
- 2. to study and develop good practices, on the basis of existing obligations, in order to assist States in respecting and ensuring respect for IHL and human rights law.

The ICRC is working closely with the Swiss government on this initiative with the aim of achieving greater respect for IHL.

After initial consultations, two meetings, for governmental experts, academics, non-governmental organizations and members of the industry were held in 2006 to discuss existing obligations and the possibility of regulation. The process will continue throughout 2008 with expert consultations on specific issues and intergovernmental meetings.

_

²¹ For further information, please consult the website of the initiative at http://www.eda.admin.ch/psc.

VII. OCCUPATION AND OTHER FORMS OF ADMINISTRATION OF FOREIGN TERRITORY

Occupation

Occupation is a situation that is regulated by international law. It is essentially based on the concept of effective control of a territory as implied by the definition provided in Article 42 of The Hague Regulations of 1907: "Territory is considered occupied when it is actually placed under the authority of the hostile army. The occupation extends only to the territory where such authority has been established and can be exercised."

It is not disputed that the relevant provisions of the Hague Regulations of 1907, of the Fourth Geneva Convention of 1949 and of Additional Protocol I of 1977 are still fully applicable in all cases of total or partial occupation of a foreign territory, whether or not the occupation meets with armed resistance. In general terms, the law of occupation provides the legal framework for the temporary exercise of authority by an occupying power; it tries to strike a balance between the security needs of that power, on the one hand, and the interests of the ousted authority and those of the local population, on the other. In the classical interpretation of occupation law, sovereign title does not pass to the occupying power and the latter essentially has to preserve the *status quo ante* as far as possible. The occupying power is thus obliged to respect the existing laws and institutions and to introduce changes only where necessary to carry out his duties under the law of occupation, to maintain public order and safety, to ensure orderly government and to maintain security.

Occupation law has, however, been challenged on the grounds that it is unsuitable to the complex features of more recent situations of occupation. The reluctance of certain States to accept the applicability of occupation law to situations in which they are involved has been justified by claims that those situations differ considerably from classical occupation by a belligerent force and should be governed by a more specific body of rules than the law of occupation currently affords.

According to some scholars, certain fundamental concepts of public international law, such as the right to self-determination, as well as developments in human rights law, have not been duly reflected in occupation law. The applicability of human rights law to situations of occupation has generated important questions deserving examination, such as how far an occupying power can go in implementing that law in occupied territory. Particular issues have also arisen in relation to the right to self-determination, including whether an occupying power can take legislative action to further the exercise of this right by the people and whether the right to self-determination can justify wholesale changes in the occupied territory, be they social, economic, political or institutional.

Linked to that is a broader debate about the alleged increasing inadequacy of the premise underlying occupation law, namely that the exercise of provisional authority to which the occupant is entitled does not permit the introduction of wholesale changes to the legal, political, institutional and economic structure of the territory in question. Indeed, it has been argued that the static nature of occupation law places an undue emphasis on preserving the socio-political *continuum* of the occupied territory. In that context, it has been pointed out that the transformation of an oppressive governmental system or the rebuilding of a collapsing society – by means of occupation – could be in the international community's interest and possibly necessary for the maintenance or restoration of international peace. Consequently, it may be said that there has been a growing divergence between occupation law, which requires that the laws and institutions in place be respected, and the perceived necessity of fundamentally altering a society under occupation in certain circumstances.

The questions raised above are equally relevant when the transformative goals of certain occupations, often justified by human-rights considerations, ensue from a UN Security Council mandate. Certain rules of occupation law have given rise to debate about their consistency with responsibilities outlined by the Council given that, in certain situations, the obligation to preserve the status quo ante can hardly be reconciled with the goal of overhauling a system of government. Some have described this situation as a clash of obligations, or as a "carve-out" by the UN Security Council of parts of occupation law. Departure from occupation law seems to be accepted by legal scholars to the extent that it does not affect jus cogens norms contained in IHL instruments.

For the purposes of this report, it is premature to propose any definite answers. It is submitted nevertheless that some limits must be set on change that may be effected during a situation of occupation, if one accepts the need for change, as advocated by some. While an occupying power may have a degree of flexibility in implementing human rights norms, including the right to self determination, it certainly cannot be given *carte blanche* to change legislation and institutions so as to conform to its own political, legal, cultural and economic needs or values. Occupation law, it should not be forgotten, is a coherent whole that carefully balances a variety of different interests, from which derogations should only be possible in exceptional circumstances.

Other forms of administration of foreign territory

Aside from the various challenges posed by contemporary situations of occupation, another set of challenges has arisen in relation to the applicability of IHL to UN peace-keeping operations, particularly those that involve the international administration of a territory under a Chapter VII mandate. In its various interventions under that Chapter, the UN has not always assumed direct governmental functions, but has instead relied on domestic institutions or, where they were not available, assigned responsibility to the forces engaged on the ground or to a specific body charged with administering the territory concerned. Important questions arising from such situations include whether IHL and occupation law are applicable to this type of UN operation and under what circumstances. Consequently, it seems necessary to clearly define the legal framework regulating the administration of a territory by multinational forces or by an international civil administration and the particular relevance of IHL and occupation law in that context. To this end, an examination of whether IHL provides practical solutions to many of the problems faced by an international civil or military administration would seem appropriate.

On the basis of the issues raised above, as well as others that have presented recent challenges for occupation law (some of them already mentioned in the ICRC report submitted to the 28th International Conference), the ICRC intends to analyse whether and how far the rules of occupation law might need to be reinforced, clarified or developed. In 2007 the ICRC initiated a project on occupation law aimed at examining questions arising in connection with recent situations of occupation and other forms of administration of foreign territory. The project, which includes consultations with key actors and the organization of expert meetings, is expected to follow up on discussions held at a 2003 expert meeting that focused on the applicability of IHL and occupation law to multinational peace operations. The ICRC hopes, with the assistance of legal experts, to propose substantive and procedural ways of moving forward.

VIII. INCREASING RESPECT FOR IHL: THE ROLE OF SANCTIONS

Better implementation of IHL both in peacetime and in armed conflicts is a constant priority for the ICRC. In its report to the 28th International Conference, the ICRC focused its attention on means and methods of achieving greater respect for and compliance with IHL in armed conflicts, in particular by highlighting the extent and scope of States' obligation to "respect

and ensure respect" for IHL in all circumstances. It also organized a series of five regional expert seminars that examined, along with other issues, existing and potential IHL supervisory and enforcement mechanisms.²²

Four years after the report was presented to the 28th International Conference, the goal of achieving greater respect, implementation and enforcement of humanitarian law remains an abiding challenge. This is primarily the responsibility of the parties to armed conflicts, whether State or non-State.

Implementation presupposes an understanding of and a commitment to respect the law by all belligerents. It also requires sustained action by States in their legal orders and practice with a view to adopting the wide range of national implementation measures required by IHL, including the enactment of legislation, the development of military manuals, and proper training and command supervision within the armed and security forces. In addition, appropriate sanctions, of a criminal or disciplinary character, must be provided for and applied against those who violate the rules.

Important progress has been achieved over the past four years in the domestic legal orders of a great number of States, which have sought to adapt their legislation and practice to the provisions of IHL and resulting obligations. This is, *inter alia*, reflected in the establishment by an increasing number of States of national committees and other bodies in charge of advising their governments on matters relating to IHL and its domestic implementation. Nevertheless, much remains to be done and this is an issue of constant concern to the ICRC.

Significant strides have also been made in the last 15 years with regard to the creation of international mechanisms for the recognition of individual criminal responsibility. Ad hoc tribunals have been established, as well as the International Criminal Court and special or mixed tribunals. Some States have also proved willing to exercise extraterritorial jurisdiction over war crimes in order to prosecute and punish serious violations of IHL in their own domestic courts. However, while recognition of individual criminal responsibility may thus be said to have undergone important developments, improving compliance with IHL by all belligerents on the battlefield is and remains a key challenge.

ICRC initiative on the role and deterrent effect of sanctions against perpetrators of serious violations of IHL

In 2004 the ICRC published a study²³ on the roots of behaviour in war, the object of which was to identify the factors that are crucial in conditioning the conduct of belligerents. One of the study's main conclusions was that training, strict orders and effective penalties for failure to obey those orders are the best means of influencing the behaviour of weapon bearers.

The ICRC has been examining these conclusions in greater depth, focusing in particular on the role of sanctions in ensuring greater respect for IHL. It also sought to further substantiate the conclusions and to reflect on two questions identified as essential. These questions relate to the nature and characteristics of sanctions and to the environment in which they are applied. Both questions are being examined with a view to dissuading arms carriers from committing serious violations of IHL.

²² One concrete outcome of the expert meetings is discussed in Chapter V

²³ Daniel Munoz-Rojas, Jean-Jacques Frésard, *The Roots of Behaviour in War: Understanding and Preventing IHL Violations*, ICRC, Geneva, October 2004.

The nature and characteristics of sanctions

The first part of the ICRC's examination focuses on three main issues, beginning with the **deterrent nature of sanctions**, namely the role played by the threat of punishment as opposed to the punishment itself.

In this connection, the ICRC observed that if sanctions were applied randomly and were thus unpredictable, combatants were generally willing to take a chance and violate the law since they considered that there was a high probability that they would not be punished. Moreover, if sanctions were regarded as purely hypothetical, they would not be effective in preventing violations, no matter how heavy the penalty might be. This shows that the effectiveness and legitimacy of sanctions must be strengthened at all levels. Indeed, the problem is less one of inadequate criminal provisions as one of lack of implementation. In the heat of armed conflict, courts - whether domestic or international - usually cannot and do not intervene by sentencing and punishing violators. Thus, there is a need for alternative or complementary solutions that make sanctions a reality. If the perpetrators of serious IHL violations expected to be punished, whether through the criminal justice system or by any other means, their behaviour could change. In this respect, disciplinary sanctions should be explored because of the rapid and effective signal they send combatants and the heavy stigma attached to them in terms of peer rejection. However, caution should be exercised in two regards; first of all, disciplinary sanctions might be seen as leading to efforts to conceal the gravity of a crime and, secondly, they might be insufficient to satisfy the interests of the victims.

The second question relates to the issue of **to whom sanctions apply**. In all types of armed conflict, international law extends criminal responsibility for violations beyond the circle of actual perpetrators to encompass a large number of potential participants, including senior military and civilian officials. The ICRC is particularly interested in assessing the impact of this extended responsibility in relation to the role of the individuals concerned (arms carriers, heads of field units, commanders or civilian officials) and the sanctions that could be attached to their unlawful behaviour.

The third topic studied is the *forms of justice* – civilian or military – and their impact in terms of ensuring greater respect for IHL. Where no provision has been made for the exclusive jurisdiction of either civilian or military courts, additional work is required to set the criteria according to which the division of competences should be established.

The influence of the environment on the deterrent effect of sanctions

The second part of this reflection seeks to examine the context in which violations of IHL occur and the applicability of sanctions. Identifying the factors that influence behaviour in armed conflicts calls for a reflection that goes beyond the topic of sanctions and considers all the elements likely to influence that behaviour, especially since sanctions are clearly not seen and understood in the same manner by arms carriers everywhere. There is also merit in attempting to reconcile the values of different groups with those of IHL. The ICRC is willing to conduct a study on sanctions' efficiency which would take into account the influence of

factors characterising pre-identified scenarios in which sanctions are called to be applied, which is a highly under-explored area of research.

The expectations and needs of victims

When considering the role of sanctions, it is important to give serious thought to the interests of victims of IHL violations and to the type of system that could best meet their expectations and needs. The fact that criminal proceedings do not always take the interests of victims into account is often a source of frustration, disappointment and anger. Issues such as truth, reparation and vetting, which play a key role in permitting societies and the individuals that make them up to heal and rebuild their lives, cannot be appropriately dealt within a traditional criminal-justice system. Alternative mechanisms should be considered in this regard. These

mechanisms could also impose sanctions on perpetrators – albeit of a different nature than strictly criminal sanctions – which would result from a bargaining process between the victims, the perpetrators and the affected society. The ICRC hopes to further explore alternative or complementary processes and measure their impact on preventing serious IHL violations.

How the research is being carried out

In order to carry out this examination, the ICRC has been working with a group of independent experts from various fields. They were invited to respond in writing to four case studies and attended two informal meetings, held in April 2006 and June 2007, where they discussed topics such as the nature of sanctions, various forms of responsibility and justice, the risks of court action, and amnesty, the needs of victims and mechanisms of transitional justice. The meetings helped narrow down the issues that will be addressed at a broader inter-regional meeting to be held in November 2007. The purpose of the November meeting will be to develop and draft concrete proposals designed to assist the ICRC in its efforts to help establish an integrated system of sanctions, one that would have an effective long-term influence on the behaviour of combatants and on their environment with a view to promoting better compliance with IHL.

ANNEX 1:

Procedural Principles and Safeguards for Internment / Administrative Detention in Armed Conflict and Other Situations of Violence

Please refer to document annexed.

ANNEX 2:

Agenda of the 30th San Remo Round Table on "The Conduct of Hostilities: Revisiting the Law of Armed Conflict 100 Years after the 1907 Hague Conventions and 30 Years after the 1977 Additional Protocols"



International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC)



International Institute of Humanitarian Law (IIHL)

30th Sanremo Round Table on Current Issues of International Humanitarian Law

The Conduct of Hostilities

Revisiting the Law of Armed Conflict 100 years after the 1907 Hague Conventions and 30 years after the 1977 Additional Protocols

Agenda

6 to 8 September 2007 Sanremo, Italy



Under the High Patronage of The President of the Italian Republic

H.E. Dr. Giorgio Napolitano

Wednesday, 5 September 2007

15.00–20.00 Registration of Participants – Congress Centre, Grand Hôtel de Londres All plenary sessions will take place at the Congress Centre

18.00 - 20.00 Welcome cocktail, Grand Hôtel de Londres

Thursday, 6 September 2007

09.30-10.15 Opening Session

Chair: Prof. Michel Veuthey, Acting President, International Institute of Humanitarian Law (IIHL)

Message of the President of the Republic of Italy, Giorgio Napolitano

Welcome Statements:

- Dr. Claudio Borea, Mayor of Sanremo
- Senator Gianni Vernetti, Under Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, Italy
- . Mr. Daniel Klingele, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Switzerland
- Dr. Liesbeth Lijnzaad, Legal Adviser, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Netherlands
- Dr. Massimo Barra, President, Italian Red Cross

Keynote Statement:

w Dr. Jakob Kellenberger, President, International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC)

I. The conduct of hostilities from an ethical, historical and future perspective: Introduction to the topic of the Round Table

(10.15-12.30)

Moderator: Dr. Rolph K. Jenny, Vice-President, International Institute of Humanitarian Law

10.15-10.35 The ethical and philosophical foundations of the law on the conduct of hostilities

Dr. Hugo Slim, Chief Scholar, Centre for Humanitarian Dialogue, Geneva, Switzerland

- 10.35-10.55 From the 1907 Hague Conventions to the Additional Protocols of 1977 and beyond Historical evolution of the law on the conduct of hostilities Dr. Philip Spoerri, Director for International Law and cooperation within the Movement, ICRC Member, IIHL
- 10.55-11.25 Coffee Break
- 11.25-11.45 Contemporary transformations of war

Colonel (ret.) Thomas X. Hammes, United States Marine Corps

- 11.45-12.30 Discussion
- 12.30-14.30 Lunch

II. The use of force in international humanitarian law and human rights law (14.30-15.40)

Moderator: General Giuseppe Valotto, President, Center for Higher Defence Studies (CASD), Rome, Italy

14.30-14.55 Rules governing the conduct of hostilities and the preservation of order: complementary or incompatible regimes?

Ms Jelena Pejic, Legal Adviser, Legal Division, ICRC

14.55-15.20 The conduct of hostilities in the context of counter-terrorism

Colonel William K. Lietzau, United States Marine Corps, Battalion Commander, Headquarters Marine Corps, Washington D.C.

15.20-15.40 Discussion

III. Combatants and military objectives *versus* civilian persons and objects (15.40-19.00)

Moderator: Prof. Yves Sandoz, Member, International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC)

15.40-16.05 The notions of combatant, armed group, civilians and civilian population in international armed conflicts

Brigadier-General Kenneth Watkin, Judge Advocate General of the Canadian Forces

16.05-16.30 The notions of 'combatant', armed group, civilians and civilian population in non-international armed conflicts

Dr. Jann K. Kleffner, Assistant Professor of International Law, University of Amsterdam, Managing Editor, Yearbook of International Humanitarian Law, Netherlands

16.30-16.50 Coffee Break

16.50-17.15 The notion of direct participation in hostilities Dr. Nils Melzer, Legal Adviser, Legal Division, ICRC

17.15-17.30 Discussion

17.30-18.00 The definition of military objective

Prof. Hays Parks, Associate Deputy General Counsel (International Affairs), United States

Department of Defense

Dr. Knut Dörmann, Deputy Head, Legal Division, ICRC

18.00-18.20 Discussion

18.20-18.40 The applicable law in case of doubt

Mr. Daniel Klingele, Head, Human Rights and International Humanitarian Law Section,

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Switzerland

18.40-19.00 Discussion

19.30 Reception offered by the Casino of Sanremo

Friday, 7 September 2007

IV. Methods of warfare (09.00-12.30)

Moderator: Prof. Marie Jacobsson, Principal Legal Adviser, Ministry for Foreign Affairs, Sweden Member, International Law Commission - Member, IIHL

09.00-09.45 Prohibition of indiscriminate attacks and the principle of proportionality – case studies

Prof. Ove Bring, Member of the Council, IIHL

Mr. Stéphane Bourgon, Defense Counsel before the ICTY, Canada

09.45-10.30 Precautions in attack: legal aspects – case studies

Prof. Wolff Heintschel von Heinegg - European University Viadrina, Frankfurt/Oder,

Germany - Member, IIHL

Prof. Marco Sassòli, University of Geneva, Switzerland

10.30-11.00 Discussion

11.00-11.30 Coffee Break

11.30-12.10 The prohibition of human shields and the precautions against the effects of

attacks: legal aspects - case studies

Prof. Michael Schmitt, United States Naval War College, Unites States Prof. Françoise Hampson, University of Essex, United Kingdom

12.10-12.30 Discussion

12.30-14.30 Lunch

V. Means of warfare (14.30-16.10)

Moderator: Brigadier-General Erwin Dahinden, Ministry of Defense, Switzerland - Member, IIHL

14.30-14.50 The principle of the prohibition of superfluous injury or unnecessary suffering Dr. Théo Boutruche, Teaching Assistant, Faculty of Law, University of Geneva, Switzerland

14.50-16.10 Working Group sessions:

- I. Biotechnology and weapons
 - Mr. John Borrie, Senior Researcher & Project Manager, United Nations Institute for Disarmament Research (Geneva Branch)
 - Mr. Richard Lennane, Head, Biological Weapons Convention Implementation Support Unit, United Nations Department for Disarmament Affairs (Geneva Branch)
- II. "Non-lethal" weapons and their legal implications
 Dr. Robin Coupland, Medical Adviser, Legal Division, ICRC
 Prof. Marco Odello, University of Aberystwyth, Wales (UK) Member, IIHL
- III. Weapons causing post-conflict effects on civilians (mines, cluster bombs, explosive remnants of war)
 Mr. Ronald Bettauer, Deputy Legal Adviser, United States Department of State
- 16.10-16.50 Coffee Break

VI. The conduct of hostilities and special protection regimes (16.50-17.50)

Dr. Knut Dörmann, Deputy Head, Legal Division, ICRC

Moderator: General Giorgio Blais, Vice-President, International Institute of Humanitarian Law

- 16.50-17.10 The conduct of hostilities and their impact on humanitarian assistance
 General Arne W. Dahl, Public Prosecutor, Office of the Director, Public Prosecutions,
 Norway Member, IIHL
- 17.10-17.30 The conduct of hostilities and the protection of the environment
 Dr. Heike Spieker, Head, International Humanitarian Law and International Institutions
 Department, German Red Cross Member, IIHL
- 17.30-17.50 Discussion

VII. Aerial warfare (17.50-19.00)

Moderator: Prof. Edoardo Greppi, University of Turin, Italy - Member, IIHL

17.50-18.30 The specificities of the law on the conduct of hostilities in the context of aerial warfare

Prof. Yoram Dinstein, Member of the Council, IIHL

18.30-19.00 Discussion

20.30 Official dinner

Saturday, 8 September 2007

Means of warfare (continued)

Moderator: Brigadier-General Erwin Dahinden, Ministry of Defense, Switzerland - Member, IIHL

- 09.00-09.40 Working Group reports on means of warfare
 - Group I
 - Group II
 - Group III

Discussion

VIII. Implementing the law on the conduct of hostilities (09.40-12.00)

Moderator: Judge Fausto Pocar, Vice-President, International Institute of Humanitarian Law

President, ICTY

09.40-10.05 10.05-10.30	Implementation of the law on the conduct of hostilities by armed forces: a view from inside Colonel (ret.) Charles Garraway, United Kingdom - Member, IIHL Coffee Break
10.30-10.55	Reparations and compensation for violation of the law on the conduct of hostilities: practice and future perspectives Prof. Liesbeth Zegveld, Leiden University, Netherlands
10.55-11.10	Current issues in the implementation of the law on the conduct of hostilities Amb. William Taft, Visiting Professor, Stanford Law School, United States - Member, IIHL
11.10-11.35	Implementation of the law on the conduct of hostilities by national and international criminal jurisdictions Prof. Eric David, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Belgium
11.35-12.00	Discussion
12.00-13.00 Ch	Conclusion of the Round Table (12.00-13.00) nair: Prof. Michel Veuthey, Acting President, International Institute of Humanitarian Law
12.00-12.30	Summary and Conclusions: The contemporary challenges to the law on the conduct of hostilities Dr. Philip Spoerri, Director for International Law and cooperation within the Movement, ICRC - Member, IIHL
12.30-13.00 Prof. Michel Ve	Closing Remarks Dr. Giovanni Lorenzo Forcieri, Under Secretary of State, Ministry of Defense, Italy outhey, Acting President, International Institute of Humanitarian Law.

ANNEX 3:

Increasing Respect for International Humanitarian Law in Non-International Armed Conflicts

International Committee of the Red Cross April 2007

Contents

Foreword

Introduction

International Humanitarian Law in Non-International Armed Conflicts

Specific Challenges

Lessons Learnt

Increasing Respect by Making the Rules Known

Increasing Respect through Legal Tools

Increasing Respect through "Strategic Argumentation"

Final Remarks

FOREWORD

The most widely prevalent type of armed conflict today is non-international in nature. It involves hostilities between government armed forces and organized non-State armed groups or is carried on among members of such groups themselves. A defining feature of non-international armed conflict is that it is usually waged by persons familiar with each other's political and economic history, social organization, culture and customs. Unfortunately, it is characterized also by the extreme brutality that so often accompanies fighting among those with a common or shared background.

International humanitarian law (IHL) provides the normative framework against which the behaviour of parties to non-international armed conflicts must be assessed. As far back as 1949, States agreed, in Article 3 common to the four Geneva Conventions, to abide by certain minimum standards in such wars. The provisions of common Article 3 bind all parties to non-international armed conflicts, including organized non-State armed groups. Common Article 3, which is said to reflect elementary considerations of humanity, has since been supplemented by a number of other treaty provisions, and by customary humanitarian law governing the conduct of parties to non-international armed conflicts.

Drafting laws is just the first step in ensuring protection for those who do not take part in hostilities, such as civilians, or those who no longer do so, such as wounded or sick members of the armed forces and armed groups. The real challenge has always been to make the rules known to the opposing sides and to ensure that they are applied. This publication aims to provide States and armed groups, as well as humanitarian and other actors working with parties to non-international armed conflicts, with suggestions for ways in which the law could be better implemented.

One should have no illusions that there are any legal tools or policy arguments that can avail in those instances when the law is being systematically flouted, if the political will to abide by it is lacking. The many different causes of non-international armed conflicts, and the diversity of the participants, also means that those hoping to assist the parties involved in respecting the law must bring to their task patience, wisdom and knowledge. Experience has shown, however, that where the requisite conditions exist, certain legal tools and policy arguments may help to persuade conflicting parties to better comply with the rules.

This publication sets out a range of legal tools and policy arguments that the ICRC, and others, have employed with both States and organized armed groups to improve their compliance with the law. We recommend them to a wider audience not because they have always worked but because - under appropriate conditions - some, or all of them, can and should be tried. In addition to its own continuing endeavours to increase respect for the law – by applying the strategies outlined in this text - the ICRC remains firmly committed to further exploring ways in which persons affected by non-international armed conflicts can be better protected.

Dr. Jakob Kellenberger President International Committee of the Red Cross

INTRODUCTION

Most armed conflicts today are non-international in nature. They take place within the borders of States, and are waged between a State and organized non-State armed group(s) or among such groups themselves.

The daily life of many civilians caught up in these situations is ruled by fear or the threat of destruction and extreme suffering. The deliberate targeting of civilians, the destruction of civilian property and looting, the forced displacement of populations, the use of civilians as human shields, the destruction of infrastructure vital to civilian populations, rape and other forms of sexual violence, torture, indiscriminate attacks: these and other acts of violence are unfortunately all too common in non-international armed conflicts throughout the world.

International humanitarian law (IHL) is a body of law that provides essential protection for those directly affected by an armed conflict, if it is respected by the parties to that conflict. Where IHL is not respected, human suffering increases and the consequences of the conflict become more difficult to repair.

What can be done to bridge this gap between good intentions as embodied by the law and the reality of suffering? What can be done to influence the behaviour of warring parties? What are the challenges? What strategies or approaches have proven successful? What lessons can be learnt from practice?

In its field operations, the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) seeks to alleviate and prevent human suffering by - among other means - urging parties to armed conflicts to act in accordance with humanitarian law. This includes regular confidential dialogue with, and representations to, both States and armed groups.

This publication is based on ICRC practice in non-international armed conflicts. It summarizes some of the considerable challenges the ICRC has faced and the lessons it has learnt in its efforts to increase respect for IHL. It also includes an overview of the dissemination activities, the legal tools, and the methods of persuasion that the ICRC has used for improving compliance with humanitarian law.

The "parties" referred to throughout are States or organized non-State armed groups that are party to non-international armed conflicts and therefore bound by IHL.

ICRC MANDATE: PROMOTION AND FAITHFUL APPLICATION OF IHL

Article 3 common to the four Geneva Conventions of 1949 provides that, in non-international armed conflicts, "an impartial humanitarian body, such as the International Committee of the Red Cross, may offer its services to the Parties to the conflict." By making this formal offer of services, the ICRC declares itself available for carrying out the tasks assigned to it under humanitarian law.

The ICRC's efforts in non-international armed conflicts are guided by its institutional mission: to protect the lives and dignity of victims of armed conflict and to endeavour to prevent suffering by promoting and strengthening humanitarian law. IHL is an essential tool in discharging this mission. If respected by the parties to a conflict, this body of law provides essential protection for those who are affected by situation of armed conflict.

Within the ICRC's broad role in armed conflicts - "to ensure the protection of and assistance to military and civilian victims of such events" - respect for IHL is crucial. This is affirmed by the Statutes of the International Red Cross and Red Crescent Movement, which describe the ICRC's mandate as working for "the faithful application of international humanitarian law" and towards "the understanding and dissemination of international humanitarian law."

IHL IN NON-INTERNATIONAL ARMED CONFLICTS

What rules of IHL are applicable in non-international armed conflicts?

The rules of IHL applicable in situations of non-international armed conflict are found in both treaty and customary law.

Common Article 3 of the 1949 Geneva Conventions specifically applies in the case of conflicts "not of an international character." This means, but is not limited to, armed conflicts between governments and organized armed groups, or those that take place among such groups themselves. Common Article 3 does not define "armed conflict". However, several criteria have been developed through practice, such as the following:

- § The parties to the conflict have to be identifiable, i.e. they must have a minimum of organization and structure, and a chain of command.
- The armed conflict must have a minimum level of intensity. The parties would usually have recourse to their armed forces or to military means, and not just to police forces. The duration of the violence is another element that has to be taken into consideration.

Therefore, common Article 3 does *not* apply to situations of internal disturbances and tensions, such as riots and other isolated and sporadic acts of violence.

It is also important to note that common Article 3 expressly states that its application does not affect the legal status of the parties to a conflict.

Common Article 3, which is sometimes referred to as a "treaty in miniature," stipulates the minimum protection that must be afforded to all those who are not, or who are no longer, taking an active part in hostilities (e.g. civilians, members of armed forces of the parties to the conflict who have been captured, are wounded, or have surrendered). It provides for humane and non-discriminatory treatment for all such persons, in particular by prohibiting acts of violence to life and person (specifically murder, mutilation, cruel treatment and torture), the taking of hostages, and outrages upon personal dignity, in particular humiliating and degrading treatment. It prohibits also the passing of sentences and the carrying out of executions without judgment being pronounced by a regularly constituted court providing all judicial guarantees recognized as indispensable. Finally, it imposes an obligation on the parties to collect the wounded and sick and to care for them.

²⁴ Statutes of the International Red Cross and Red Crescent Movement, adopted by the 25th International Conference of the Red Cross and Red Crescent in Geneva in October 1986, Article 5(2)(d).

²⁵ *Id.*, Article 5(2)(c).

²⁶ *Id.*, Article 5(2)(g).

As affirmed by the International Court of Justice in 1986, the provisions of common Article 3 reflect customary international law and represent a minimum standard from which the parties to any type of armed conflict must not depart.²⁷

Common Article 3

In the case of armed conflict not of an international character occurring in the territory of one of the High Contracting Parties, each Party to the conflict shall be bound to apply, as a minimum, the following provisions:

(1) Persons taking no active part in the hostilities, including members of armed forces who have laid down their arms and those placed *hors de combat* by sickness, wounds, detention, or any other cause, shall in all circumstances be treated humanely, without any adverse distinction founded on race, colour, religion or faith, sex, birth or wealth, or any other similar criteria.

To this end, the following acts are and shall remain prohibited at any time and in any place whatsoever with respect to the above-mentioned persons:

- (a) violence to life and person, in particular murder of all kinds, mutilation, cruel treatment and torture:
- (b) taking of hostages;
- (c) outrages upon personal dignity, in particular humiliating and degrading treatment;
- (d) the passing of sentences and the carrying out of executions without previous judgment pronounced by a regularly constituted court, affording all the judicial guarantees which are recognized as indispensable by civilized peoples.
- (2) The wounded and sick shall be collected and cared for.

An impartial humanitarian body, such as the International Committee of the Red Cross, may offer its services to the Parties to the conflict.

The Parties to the conflict should further endeavour to bring into force, by means of special agreements, all or part of the other provisions of the present Convention.

The application of the preceding provisions shall not affect the legal status of the Parties to the conflict.

Protocol II additional to the four Geneva Conventions, adopted on 8 June 1977, was specifically enacted to apply to certain situations of non-international armed conflict; it strengthened protection beyond the minimum standards contained in common Article 3. Additional Protocol II applies only where it has been ratified by the State. Its scope is more restricted than that of common Article 3: it applies only to conflicts between a State's armed force and "dissident armed forces or other organized armed groups which, under responsible command, exercise such control over a part of its territory as to enable them to carry out

²⁷ See *Military and Paramilitary Activities In and Against Nicaragua*, 1986 I.C.J. Reports p.114, paras 218 and 219.

sustained and concerted military operations and to implement this Protocol" (Article 1, para.1, of Additional Protocol II).

Like common Article 3, Additional Protocol II provides for the humane and non-discriminatory treatment of all those who are not, or who are no longer, taking a direct part in hostilities. It expands the protection provided by common Article 3, by including prohibitions on collective punishment, acts of terrorism, rape, enforced prostitution and indecent assault, slavery and pillage. It sets out specific provisions and protections for certain categories of person, such as children, persons deprived of liberty for reasons related to the conflict, persons prosecuted for criminal offences related to the conflict, persons who are wounded, sick and shipwrecked, medical and religious personnel, and the civilian population (attacks on civilian populations, starvation as a method of combat, and forced displacement are all prohibited).

A number of **other humanitarian law treaties** also apply to situations of non-international armed conflict. Among them are the following: the Protocol on Prohibitions or Restrictions on the Use of Mines, Booby-Traps and Other Devices, as amended on 3 May 1996 (amended Protocol II to the 1980 Convention on Prohibitions or Restrictions on the Use of Certain Conventional Weapons (CCW)); Protocols I, III, IV and V of the CCW, through paragraph 6 of Article 1 of the CCW, as adopted on 21 December 2001; the Convention for the Protection of Cultural Property in the Event of Armed Conflict, 14 May 1954; and the Second Protocol to the Hague Convention of 1954 for the Protection of Cultural Property in the Event of Armed Conflict, 26 March 1999.

Although the existence of so many provisions and treaties may appear to be sufficient, the treaty rules applicable in non-international armed conflicts are, in fact, rudimentary compared to those applicable in international armed conflicts. Not only are there fewer of these treaty rules, but they are also less detailed and, in the case of Additional Protocol II, their application is dependent on the specific situations described above.

The rules of **customary international humanitarian law**, however, fill some important gaps in the regulation of non-international armed conflicts. First, many of the provisions of Additional Protocol II are now considered to be part of customary international law and, thus, binding on all parties to non-international armed conflicts. These rules include the prohibition of attacks on civilians, the obligation to respect and protect medical and religious personnel, medical units and transports, the prohibition of starvation, the prohibition of attacks on objects indispensable to the survival of the civilian population, the obligation to respect the fundamental guarantees of persons who are not taking a direct part, or who have ceased to take a direct part, in hostilities, the obligation to search for and respect and protect the wounded, sick and shipwrecked, the obligation to search for and collect the dead, the obligation to protect persons deprived of their liberty, the prohibition of the forced movement of civilians, and specific protections for women and children.

Customary IHL also goes beyond the rudimentary provisions of common Article 3 and Additional Protocol II. Practice has created a substantial number of additional customary rules relating to the conduct of hostilities (e.g. the distinction between civilian objects and military objectives, the prohibition of indiscriminate attacks and attacks in violation of the principle of proportionality), rules on specifically protected persons and objects (e.g. humanitarian relief personnel and objects, journalists, and protected zones), and rules on specific methods of warfare (e.g. prohibitions of denial of quarter and perfidy).

2

²⁸ For more information on customary law, and for a complete description of the rules of IHL applicable in non-international armed conflict as a matter of customary law, see the ICRC study on customary international humanitarian law: J-M. Henckaerts, L. Doswald-Beck (eds), *Customary International Humanitarian Law*, Cambridge University Press, 2005.

However, IHL is not the only body of law that guarantees protection for persons in situations of non-international armed conflict. The provisions of **international human rights law** – particularly, non-derogable human rights – are complementary to IHL and also protect those who are vulnerable in such situations. Moreover, **domestic law** – in the State in which a conflict is taking place - often provides additional protections and limits on behaviour, and may provide a framework of safeguards that have to be respected in situations of non-international armed conflict.

Who is bound by humanitarian law in non-international armed conflicts?

All parties to non-international armed conflicts – whether State actors or armed groups – are bound by the relevant rules of IHL.

States are explicitly bound by the treaties to which they are party and by applicable customary law. In addition, Article 1 common to the four Geneva Conventions requires that States Parties must, in all circumstances, not only "respect," but also "ensure respect" for humanitarian law.

Although only States may formally ratify or become party to the various international treaties, armed groups party to a non-international armed conflict also must comply with common Article 3, customary IHL, and, where applicable, Additional Protocol II. The extensive practice of international courts and tribunals and other international bodies affirms this obligation.

As a matter of customary law binding on both States and armed groups, this obligation extends to other persons or groups acting in fact on their instructions, or under their direction or control.²⁹

States not party to an armed conflict are required by common Article 1 to neither encourage a party to violate IHL nor to take action that would assist in such violations. Furthermore, common Article 1 is generally interpreted as requiring States not party to an armed conflict to endeavour - by means of positive action - to ensure respect for IHL by parties to a conflict. This means taking appropriate steps — unilaterally or collectively — against parties to a conflict who are violating IHL and, particularly, to intervene with States or armed groups over whom they might have some influence. This is not an obligation to reach a specific result, but rather an "obligation of means" to take all possible appropriate measures in an attempt to prevent or end violations of IHL.

SPECIFIC CHALLENGES

Actors who seek to engage with the parties to non-international armed conflicts, to improve their compliance with IHL, may face a number of specific challenges.

Diversity of conflicts and parties

Non-international armed conflicts differ enormously. They range from those that resemble conventional warfare, similar to international armed conflicts, to others that are essentially unstructured. This diversity, in conflicts and in those party to them, makes it very difficult to formulate standard approaches or plans of action for increasing respect for humanitarian law.

The parties – whether States or organized armed groups – also vary widely in character. Depth of knowledge of the law, motives for taking part in an armed conflict, interest in or need for international recognition or political legitimacy: these and other factors will affect the

²⁹ See ICRC study, op.cit., Rule 139.

prospects for engaging with a party to increase its respect for the law. Willingness to discuss the law and the conflict, or to allow third parties (e.g. the ICRC, other humanitarian actors, United Nations (UN) bodies, neutral third States) to get involved, will also differ in degree.

Organized armed groups, in particular, are extremely diverse. They range from those that are highly centralized (with a strong hierarchy, effective chain of command, communication capabilities, etc.) to those that are decentralized (with semi-autonomous or splinter factions operating under an ill-defined leadership structure). Groups may also differ in the extent of their territorial control, their capacity to train members, and the disciplinary or punitive measures that are taken against members who violate humanitarian law.

The efforts of humanitarian actors or organizations that seek to engage with the parties to a non-international armed conflict – to increase respect for the law – will be affected by a number of other factors as well. These include the degree of access to the territory in which a conflict is taking place, the availability of reliable information concerning the conflict, as well as the level and quality of contact with the leadership of the parties.

Any attempt to engage with the parties to a non-international armed conflict, to increase respect for the law, must take these and other relevant factors into consideration.

Denial of applicability of humanitarian law

Not infrequently, a party to a non-international armed conflict – either a State or an armed group – will deny the applicability of humanitarian law, making it difficult to engage in a discussion on respect for the law.

Governmental authorities, for example, might disagree that a particular situation qualifies as an armed conflict. They might claim instead that it is a situation of "tension" or mere banditry and does not amount to non-international armed conflict. On this basis, a State might attempt to hinder or block contact with an armed group or access to the geographical area under its control. A State might also be reluctant to permit any negotiations or engagement that, in its view, would grant "legitimacy" to the armed group.

Non-State groups might also deny the applicability of humanitarian law by refusing to recognize a body of law created by States, or by claiming that they cannot be bound by obligations ratified by the government against whom they are fighting. In such cases, the law will seldom be a relevant frame of reference, especially for groups whose actions are shaped by a strong ideology.

Lack of political will to implement humanitarian law

Any actor attempting to increase respect for the law might face another significant challenge: a party may not have enough political will, or none at all, to comply with the provisions of humanitarian law. The strength of political will in a particular situation is likely to be difficult to ascertain, but a thorough understanding of the context, as well as good contacts and dialogue with appropriate figures in the leadership of the party, will help.

Even within one party, the attitudes of different factions might differ. For example, the military wing of a party might recognize the importance of respecting the law, while its political representatives neither concede the applicability of humanitarian law nor support the implementation of its provisions. The reverse is also possible.

Where the objective of a party to a non-international armed conflict is itself contrary to the principles, rules and spirit of humanitarian law there will be no political will to implement the law. Consider, for example, parties who perform certain acts as part of a widespread or systematic attack against a specific civilian population, or parties who are interested only in

seizing control of economic resources or wealth. In such cases, violations of IHL are the means by which objectives are pursued.

Security and access

Security threats in non-international armed conflicts are common, especially in conflicts that are unstructured or where the parties to the conflict are unable to provide effective security guarantees. Threats to security or lack of security guarantees can prevent access to certain areas or to the parties to the conflict. This will present a general obstacle to dialogue on any subject, including humanitarian law.

Ignorance of the law

In many non-international armed conflicts, bearers of arms with little or no training in IHL are directly involved in the fighting. This ignorance of the law significantly impedes efforts to increase respect for IHL and to regulate the behaviour of the parties to conflicts. Indeed, there is little likelihood that a body of law will be observed unless those whose duty it is to respect and apply it are instructed and trained to respect its obligations.

LESSONS LEARNT

The ICRC's long experience in situations of non-international armed conflict confirms that IHL – if respected - helps prevent and alleviate suffering by providing a framework of behaviour to which the parties must conform. A number of experiences drawn from ICRC practice are included in this section.

This is followed by a description of legal tools that can be relied on, as appropriate, to improve compliance with the law. These tools are inter-related and mutually supportive.

Present the law "strategically"

Merely making the parties to an armed conflict aware of the law or of their specific obligations is not enough to ensure compliance.

The law should be presented and discussed "strategically," in a manner that is relevant and adapted to the context, and as part of a deliberate plan of engagement with the parties. This is necessary if parties are to develop a positive attitude towards the law, a first step towards respecting it.

Although it should always be presented accurately and without compromising existing provisions, presentations of the law should not be theoretical or "academic." The law should be discussed in terms that are concrete and operational. Discussions of the law should also be persuasive and relevant to the circumstances. It is especially important to bear in mind the motivation and the perceptions of the parties to a conflict.

The legal complexity of a dialogue must also be in keeping with the level of knowledge and competence of those with whom it is being conducted.

Understand and adapt to the unique characteristics of the conflict and the parties

Given the great diversity of armed conflicts and parties, there is no uniform approach to the problem of lack of respect for humanitarian law. Any effort to increase respect for the law will be more effective if it takes into account the unique characteristics of a specific situation.

This is especially true regarding the parties themselves. It will be particularly helpful to know and to understand a party's motivations and interests in order to explain why it is in the party's interest to comply with the law (see "Strategic Argumentation").

Only by devoting time and resources to learning about the conflict and the parties will it be possible to assess what approaches might be most effective or promising.

Work in the context of a long-term process of engagement

Attempts to influence the behaviour of parties to a non-international armed conflict will be most effective in the context of a process of engagement and relationship with each party to the conflict.

A long-term process of engagement will provide opportunities for negotiating access, for developing good contacts with appropriately placed persons, and for gaining reliable information about the circumstances surrounding the conflict; it will also provide opportunities for acquiring insights into the characteristics of a party, on the basis of which the law can be discussed "strategically." In addition, it will, over time, lead to opportunities for addressing issues of the party's political will and capacity, and its compliance.

A long-term perspective also includes essential "follow-up" initiatives. This is especially true where it has been possible to secure a commitment from the party to comply with the law (see "Tools of Express Commitment"). The parties should be encouraged and helped to put their commitments into practice. The ICRC does this through an ongoing process of confidential bilateral dialogue and representations, which includes reminding the party of its obligations and commitments, monitoring and reporting, as well as training and capacity building.

INCREASING RESPECT BY MAKING THE RULES KNOWN

Dissemination and training activities are part of the ICRC's efforts to make the rules of humanitarian law known and to build a foundation for discussions concerning respect for the law. These activities are aimed, in particular, at those individuals or groups whose actions and behaviour can affect victims of armed conflicts or who can facilitate ICRC action. They include armed forces, police, security forces and others bearing arms, as well as decision-makers and opinion-leaders at the local and the international level.

The ICRC's strategy is carried out on three levels: awareness—building, promotion of humanitarian law through teaching and training, and the integration of humanitarian law into official, legal, educational and operational curricula. The ultimate aim is to influence attitudes and behaviour so as to improve the protection of civilians and other victims of armed conflict, to facilitate access to these victims, and to improve security for humanitarian personnel.

The ICRC encourages the parties to armed conflicts to fulfil their duty to integrate IHL into their doctrine, training, and rules of engagement, and assists them where necessary. This duty stems from the obligation of all parties to respect and ensure respect for IHL. The duty

to train members in IHL is recognized, in customary law, as binding both States and armed groups party to non-international armed conflicts.³⁰

In treaty law, the duty of States to provide instruction in IHL to their armed forces is found in Articles 47/48/127/144, respectively, of the four Geneva Conventions, and in Article 83 of Protocol I additional to the four Geneva Conventions. This treaty obligation is applicable both in peacetime and in times of international armed conflict. Specific to non-international armed conflicts, Additional Protocol II requires, in Article 19, that the Protocol "shall be disseminated as widely as possible."

It is important also to promote and teach IHL to the civilian population. As provided for in the Geneva Conventions (Articles 47/48/127/144) and in Additional Protocol I (Article 83), the teaching of humanitarian law to the civilian population should be undertaken even in peacetime.

The ICRC's role in reminding parties of their legal obligations

When an armed conflict breaks out, it is important to formally inform all parties – States and armed groups – of the legal characterization of the situation and to remind them of the applicable rules, that is, of their obligations under humanitarian law.

The ICRC most often makes this communication by way of a letter or memorandum submitted directly to the parties to a conflict, in a bilateral and confidential manner. Where contact with one or more of the parties is not possible, it could be done through a public press release.

The ICRC sends its communication at the beginning of a conflict, or during a conflict if a particular situation warrants it. This provides a basis for beginning a dialogue to encourage compliance with the law. Without this preliminary communication, it will be considerably more difficult to invoke specific protective rules later, after violations have occurred.

INCREASING RESPECT THROUGH LEGAL TOOLS

The following are a number of legal tools that have been used by the ICRC and other humanitarian actors in their efforts to improve compliance with humanitarian law by parties to non-international armed conflicts.

It must be recognized that such tools do not themselves guarantee increased respect, but they nevertheless provide a basis on which legal representations can be made and on which accountability can be required.

.

³⁰ See ICRC study, op. cit., Rule 142.

1. SPECIAL AGREEMENTS

Special agreements between the parties to non-international armed conflicts enable the parties to make an explicit commitment to comply with humanitarian law.

Because they are based on the mutual consent of the parties – and make clear that the parties have the same IHL obligations - special agreements might also provide added incentive to comply.

Common Article 3 explicitly states that concluding a special agreement will in no way affect the legal status of the parties to a conflict.

Basic Description

As provided for in common Article 3, special agreements enable the parties to non-international armed conflicts (either between a State and armed group(s) or among armed groups) to make an explicit commitment to comply with humanitarian law.

A special agreement might either create new legal obligations by going beyond the provisions of IHL already applicable in the specific circumstances (a "constitutive" agreement), or it might simply restate the law that is already binding on the parties, independent of the agreement (a "declaratory" agreement). It may also be limited to specific rules that are particularly relevant to an ongoing conflict; in that case, it should be made clear that the limited scope of the agreement is without prejudice to other applicable rules not mentioned in the agreement.

Parties should be encouraged to include both treaty and customary rules in a special agreement; the ICRC study, *Customary International Humanitarian Law*, may be of use in determining what rules fall into the latter category.

Utility

A special agreement can provide a plain statement of the law applicable in the context - or of an expanded set of provisions of IHL beyond the law that is already applicable - and secure a clear commitment from the parties to uphold that law.

A special agreement will provide an important basis for follow-up interventions to address violations of the law. The fact that an identifiable leader for each party has signed a special agreement, thereby taking on responsibility to ensure that the agreement is adhered to, will not only provide a contact person and reference point for future representations, but also send a clear signal to his forces. Furthermore, given that a special agreement is very likely to be made public, a wide range of actors in the international community will be aware of it and may be able to help in holding the parties to their commitments.

The benefits of a special agreement go beyond the formal terms in the document. That the parties to a conflict have been brought together to negotiate the agreement may itself be of value. Also, unlike the unilateral forms of express commitment made by an individual party (see "Unilateral Declarations" and "Codes of Conduct"), special agreements - based on mutual consent and commitment, which clearly allots equal IHL obligations to all parties - can provide added incentive to comply.

A special agreement can also be helpful when the legal characterization of a conflict appears uncertain or when the parties to the conflict disagree about it. A special agreement does not necessarily require the parties to agree on the issue; provisions of humanitarian law are agreed upon, and come into effect, through the express commitment contained in the agreement.

Limitations / Obstacles

Examples of special agreements are less common in practice than some other legal tools. One explanation is that States might be concerned that entering into such an agreement will grant a degree of legitimacy to an armed group. However, common Article 3 makes it clear that concluding a special agreement in no way affects the legal status of the parties to the conflict.

In practice, special agreements could be more successfully attempted when a conflict is either seemingly intractable and/or taking place on more or less equal terms between the State and armed group(s) – i.e. when an armed group exercises significant territorial control, has an effective chain of command, etc.

An additional obstacle to the conclusion of a special agreement might be the unwillingness of the parties to commit themselves to a broader range of legal obligations than would otherwise be the case.

Practice

Sometimes, the parties to a non-international armed conflict are approached directly by a third party, who suggests and helps to negotiate the terms of a special agreement.

In 1992, for example, at the invitation of the ICRC, the various parties to the conflict within the Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina (BiH) concluded a special agreement. While the agreement was of limited impact in terms of preventing violations of the law, its contents are instructive. The text of the agreement began with a commitment by the parties to respect and to ensure respect for the provisions of common Article 3, which was quoted in full. The parties also agreed to bring into force additional provisions concerning the protection of the wounded, sick and shipwrecked, of hospitals and other medical units, of the civilian population; these additional provisions also covered the treatment of captured fighters, the conduct of hostilities, assistance to the civilian population, and respect for the Red Cross. Specific articles of the Geneva Conventions or their Additional Protocols, where relevant, were cited.

In addition to its comprehensive substantive commitments, the BiH agreement included a number of other provisions. First, its terms stipulated that the agreement neither affected the legal status of the parties, nor prejudiced the international law of armed conflict in force. Secondly, the agreement included a commitment to disseminate both IHL and the terms of the agreement itself. Furthermore, specific provisions were made as to the implementation of the agreement; they included a commitment to conduct inquiries into alleged violations of IHL and to take the necessary steps to put an end to the violations and punish those responsible, as well as to appoint liaison officers and provide security guarantees to the ICRC.

Among other examples of special agreements are a 1962 agreement in Yemen and a 1967 agreement in Nigeria, both negotiated by the ICRC and both containing commitments to abide by the 1949 Geneva Conventions.

Some agreements between the parties to a non-international armed conflict refer to both IHL and human rights law and are therefore not common Article 3 agreements in the strict sense. For example, the San José Agreement on Human Rights, concluded between the

government of El Salvador and the Frente Farabundo Martí para la Liberación Nacional (FMLN) in 1990, included commitments to comply with common Article 3 and Additional Protocol II, and with various human rights norms as well. The Comprehensive Agreement on Respect for Human Rights and International Humanitarian Law concluded between the government of the Philippines and the National Democratic Front of the Philippines (NDFP) in 1998 is another example.

Commitments made in special agreements have provided a basis for follow-up interventions with parties to a conflict, either concerning respect for IHL in general or related to a specific issue or operational objective. For example, the ICRC referred to the 1992 BiH agreement, asking the parties to put their commitments into effect and to allow the ICRC to provide relief and protection to the victims of the conflict. Similarly, the ICRC based its representations on the 1998 special agreement in the Philippines. Other humanitarian actors have also based various actions on special agreements, such as the UN observer mission in El Salvador (ONUSAL) that referred to the 1990 agreement in El Salvador.

There are examples of conflicts where attempts to negotiate a special agreement did not result in one comprehensive document, but in several separate agreements. This was the case in Tajikistan, for example, where negotiations took place under the auspices of the UN between 1995 and 1997. The ICRC attended the meetings as an observer and used this forum to express its humanitarian concerns.

Contents of Special Agreements

A special agreement could contain some of the following: first, an accurate and straightforward statement of the applicable IHL provisions, both treaty and customary; second, a commitment by the parties to respect and ensure respect for these provisions of IHL; third, words to the effect that the agreement does not change the legal status of the parties to the conflict; fourth, the responsibility of the parties to disseminate IHL and the terms of the special agreement itself; and, finally, provisions for the implementation of the special agreement.

Security guarantees and assurances concerning humanitarian work in the areas under the parties' control could be included as well, if appropriate.

In the case of a special agreement that contains some, but not all of the relevant provisions of IHL, it should be made clear whenever possible, in the agreement itself, that this limited scope is without prejudice to other applicable rules not mentioned in the agreement.

2. UNILATERAL DECLARATIONS

Armed groups party to non-international armed conflicts may make a unilateral declaration (or "declaration of intention") in which they state their commitment to comply with IHL.

Some armed groups take the initiative themselves and declare their commitment through public statements. At other times, the ICRC or another humanitarian actor or organization initiates, negotiates and/or receives the declarations.

Basic Description

Although it is clear that all parties to non-international armed conflicts are legally bound by IHL, armed groups cannot ratify or formally become party to IHL treaties; only States can do so. As a result, armed groups may consider themselves technically not bound by the international obligations specified in treaty law. Furthermore, the lack of express commitment by an armed group may hamper efforts to disseminate the rules and encourage compliance.

Thus, a unilateral declaration's main purpose is to provide armed groups with an opportunity to express their commitment to abide by the rules of IHL.

It should be emphasized that armed groups remain bound by the provisions and rules of IHL applicable in a specific conflict – including common Article 3, customary IHL and, where applicable, Additional Protocol II – regardless of whether they make a unilateral declaration.

While there is no standard practice for dealing with it, a unilateral declaration should be acknowledged and its implementation encouraged. It can later be used as a basis for follow-up activities. The ICRC has cited unilateral declarations while making representations concerning violations of humanitarian law or offers of support for dissemination activities.

Utility

Unilateral declarations provide armed groups with an opportunity to explicitly express their commitment to abide by the rules of humanitarian law. This gives the hierarchy of the armed group an opportunity to assume responsibility for ensuring that its members respect the law. Furthermore, unilateral declarations can be useful to an armed group's leadership for disseminating IHL to its members.

As with the other forms of "express commitment", the significance of a universal declaration is not merely that it has been made. The process of negotiating such a declaration can be helpful in the ongoing engagement and dialogue with an armed group. Unilateral declarations, after they have been made, can provide valuable leverage in follow-up efforts to encourage compliance with the law.

Limitations / Obstacles

It is sometimes suggested that unilateral declarations are made by armed groups for political reasons and, therefore, that there is little chance that the commitments they contain will be successfully implemented. It is also sometimes feared that by accepting such declarations, the ICRC or other humanitarian actors might be instrumentalized in an armed group's attempt to gain political legitimacy.

While this might be the case, political considerations often also drive States to ratify treaties or enter into other commitments. This does not stop the international community from accepting such commitments or from attempting to hold States to them.

As regards armed groups, practice indicates that, even if its motivation appears to be political, one may nonetheless be able to capitalize on the express commitment made by an armed group.

Concerns have sometimes been raised about the legal impact of unilateral declarations; it has even been said that encouraging such declarations might call into question whether the law is at all binding. This is not so: armed groups' IHL obligations, which are applicable independently of any declaration, remain unchanged, even if an armed group submits an incomplete declaration or ultimately refuses to make any declaration whatsoever. Nonetheless, every effort should be made to ensure that unilateral declarations contain all existing obligations. If a declaration contains only some of the applicable rules, the terms of the declaration should, whenever possible, indicate that this is without prejudice to other applicable rules not mentioned.

Practice

There is a long history of armed groups making unilateral declarations of their intention to comply with provisions of IHL.

The contents of unilateral declarations may refer to common Article 3 (e.g. in 1956 by the Front de Libération Nationale (FLN) in Algeria) or to both common Article 3 and Additional Protocol II (e.g. in 1988 by the FMLN in El Salvador, in 1991 by the NDFP in the Philippines). Declarations may also state the provisions of IHL to which the armed group is committing itself, without reference to specific treaty provisions (e.g. Ejército de Liberación Nacional (ELN) in Colombia in 1995).

Besides the unilateral declarations made at the initiative of armed groups themselves, the ICRC or other actors have themselves sometimes asked armed groups for a written declaration of their willingness to comply with IHL. ICRC requests are usually bilateral and confidential, whereas other actors and organizations sometimes make their requests publicly. The ICRC or other organizations have made such requests in Colombia, Indonesia, Liberia, and Sudan, among other countries. Geneva Call is a non-governmental organization that encourages armed groups to sign a "Deed of Commitment for Adherence to a Total Ban on Anti-Personnel Mines and for Cooperation in Mine Action."

On receiving a unilateral declaration, the ICRC will usually acknowledge it and then encourage the group to take all measures necessary for implementing the commitments it contains. This was the case, for example, in September 1987 when the Coordinadora Guerrillera Simon Bolivar (CGSB) - an umbrella organization including several armed groups party to the conflict in Colombia - declared its intention to respect IHL; it was also the case with unilateral declarations received from the NDFP in the Philippines in both 1991 and 1996.

In addition, the ICRC will use unilateral declarations as the basis for follow-up interventions, either to discuss allegations of violations of the law or to provide a general reminder to a

group of the commitment it has made to adhere to IHL. Such interventions with armed groups occurred in Angola, Colombia, Nicaragua, Rwanda, South Africa, Sri Lanka, and other countries.

Contents of Unilateral Declarations

The terms of a unilateral declaration may, *inter alia*, contain an accurate and straightforward statement of the IHL provisions applicable in the specific conflict, as well as an express commitment by the armed group to respect and ensure respect for these provisions of IHL, which could be both treaty and customary norms.

If a declaration is issue-specific rather than a commitment to adhere to the full range of applicable IHL, then it could refer only to provisions of IHL related to that issue. If possible, such narrow declarations should include a clarification that this is without prejudice to other applicable rules not mentioned in the declaration.

It may also be helpful to include in a unilateral declaration a commitment by the armed group to disseminate both IHL and the terms of the unilateral declaration. If appropriate, security guarantees and assurances concerning humanitarian work in the areas under the armed group's control could be included as well.

3. INCLUSION OF HUMANITARIAN LAW IN CODES OF CONDUCT FOR ARMED GROUPS

By adopting and distributing a code of conduct that is consistent with IHL, the hierarchy of an armed group sets up a mechanism that enables its members to respect IHL.

Such indication of commitment to adhere to the rules of IHL, although less public than a declaration of intention or a special agreement, can nonetheless lead to better implementation of IHL norms by an armed group. It can also have a direct impact on its members' training in IHL and on the dissemination of the law.

Basic Description

Codes of conduct that are consistent with IHL provide a concrete mechanism for enabling persons to respect the law. The fundamental rules of IHL should be presented in a form that is easy to understand by the members of the armed group. The code of conduct should also contain a description of the means necessary to implement IHL, including internal sanctions.

Similar mechanisms are common in State practice (through doctrine, military manuals, etc.). Although less well-known, there are instances of armed groups that have taken the initiative to develop codes of conduct, or that have agreed to distribute a code of conduct provided by the ICRC or another actor.

Utility

In addition to serving as a form of express commitment to the law, on the basis of which interventions can be made concerning compliance, this legal tool can have a direct impact on dissemination of the rules and on the training of armed group members.

The fact that the hierarchy of an armed group initiates or agrees to a code of conduct indicates a degree of ownership and commitment to ensure respect for the law. This is likely to influence the behaviour of members of the armed group more than something they may perceive as having been imposed on them from the "outside".

Discussions with the hierarchy of an armed group – either on the development of a code of conduct or on including IHL in a code that already exists – can be helpful in the process of engagement with the group. The period of negotiations and discussions concerning a code of conduct can be used to inform the armed group's leadership about IHL, and also to gain an understanding of the political will and the attitudes of the armed group regarding adherence to the law.

If an armed group has made a unilateral declaration, the development of a code of conduct that includes IHL can be suggested as a logical "next step." By offering assistance in developing a code of conduct or in including IHL in a code that already exists, one can also help the group to put its unilateral declaration commitments into action.

Limitations / Obstacles

One obstacle to successful negotiations concerning a code of conduct will be insufficient contacts with an armed group as a whole, or with the appropriate members of its hierarchy. For example, contacts that are confined to the political representatives of a group - and don't take into account the operational or military authorities responsible for the adoption and distribution of codes of conduct - might limit the scope of negotiations.

Furthermore, an armed group might lack the necessary control and organization to be effective in putting a code of conduct into place.

Practice

Actors often call for armed groups to develop or adopt codes of conduct or "rules of engagement" for their members. Whereas the ICRC most often does so bilaterally and confidentially, other actors might make such calls publicly.

Armed groups have developed internal codes of conduct at their own initiative at one time or another in Algeria, Colombia, El Salvador, Côte d'Ivoire, Liberia, Nepal, the Philippines, Sierra Leone, Sri Lanka, and other countries. Codes of conduct vary in the way they reflect IHL, sometimes referring only to local traditions or cultural norms. Nevertheless, where contact and dialogue have been possible, codes of conduct have provided a basis for discussing the law. In some cases (e.g. in Colombia, El Salvador and Nicaragua), the ICRC or other actors have offered to review and comment on existing codes of conduct.

Armed groups have sometimes distributed codes of conduct received from the ICRC or another actor. In the mid-1990s, following discussions with the ICRC, the Sudan Allied Forces (SAF) distributed a 10-point code of conduct consistent with IHL. The discussions concerning the code of conduct also led to dissemination sessions and IHL training for the members of the SAF.

4. REFERENCES TO HUMANITARIAN LAW IN CEASEFIRE OR PEACE AGREEMENTS

The inclusion of IHL commitments in ceasefire or peace agreements entered into by parties to non-international armed conflicts helps to ensure respect for IHL provisions that continue to apply or come into force after the cessation of hostilities.

Additionally, the inclusion of IHL commitments in a ceasefire agreement can also be useful if hostilities are renewed, to remind the parties of their obligations under IHL.

Basic Description

Ceasefire and peace agreements frequently contain references to humanitarian law. To clearly understand the significance of these references, it is necessary to distinguish between the two types of agreements.

Through ceasefire agreements, the parties to a conflict agree to suspend hostilities - often, but not always, in order to facilitate peace negotiations. In addition, ceasefire agreements frequently contain commitments by the parties to implement specific IHL obligations or to refrain from violating IHL.

Peace agreements, by contrast, are usually entered into with the expectation that a conflict is over and that hostilities will not resume. References to IHL in peace agreements commonly pertain to the provisions of the law that continue to apply - or come into force - after the cessation of hostilities (see below), and are accompanied by a commitment by the parties to fulfil these post-conflict obligations.

In either case, every effort should be made to ensure that humanitarian law is accurately expressed in such agreements.

Utility

As ceasefire agreements do not necessarily guarantee the end of hostilities, the suspension of hostilities might be an opportunity to remind the parties of their obligations under IHL and secure a commitment to compliance, should hostilities be taken up again. These commitments can then provide a basis for future interventions to encourage compliance with the law if the conflict continues.

In peace agreements, precise statement of the provisions of IHL that continue to apply - or come into force - after the cessation of hostilities will facilitate interventions to ensure the fulfilment of these obligations.

Limitations / Obstacles

Ceasefire agreements and peace agreements in non-international armed conflicts are negotiated between the parties (States and armed groups), usually by third States or neutral intermediaries. The ability of humanitarian agencies or organizations to influence the design and the contents of such agreements can be limited. It must be stressed that humanitarian obligations should not be overlooked or negotiated away for the sake of achieving political objectives.

Practice – Ceasefire agreements

Ceasefire agreements sometimes include a general commitment by the parties to ensure respect for IHL, as was the case in a 1999 ceasefire agreement between the parties to the conflict in the Democratic Republic of the Congo.

Ceasefire agreements will often specifically enumerate the various acts, violations of humanitarian law, from which the parties pledge to abstain. For example, in a 2002 agreement, the parties to the conflict in Angola agreed to guarantee the protection of persons and their property and not to conduct forced movements of the civilian population, commit acts of violence against the civilian population or destroy property. A 2002 ceasefire agreement between the parties to the conflict in Sri Lanka included a commitment to abstain from torture and intimidation. Instances of the commitment to refrain from acts of violence include the following: the 2002 Cessation of Hostilities Framework Agreement between the government of Indonesia and the Free Aceh Movement (GAM), and the 2002 Agreement of Cessation of Hostilities between the government of Sudan and the Sudan People's Liberation Movement/Army (SPLM/A).

In addition to specific IHL provisions, ceasefire agreements often include commitments by the parties to permit unimpeded movement of humanitarian assistance or access by humanitarian agencies. Such agreements have been signed in Guinea-Bissau, Liberia, Sudan, and other countries.

The ICRC and other actors, although not directly involved in negotiating the agreements themselves, have used the provisions in ceasefire agreements to remind parties of their IHL obligations, to encourage compliance with the law, or to negotiate for access. Some instances of this are the representations made on the basis of the 1999 ceasefire agreement in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, and on the basis of the 2002 agreement on cessation of hostilities between the government of Indonesia and GAM.

IHL in Ceasefire Agreements

In practice, ceasefire agreements might contain commitments by parties to respect and ensure respect for the provisions of IHL applicable in the specific conflict. In addition to merely listing the various acts and violations to be abstained from, agreements might explicitly refer to specific provisions of relevant IHL treaties and customary IHL. Ceasefire agreements might also include a commitment regarding the unimpeded movement of humanitarian assistance or access by humanitarian agencies, in particular for providing services that are likely to be needed during the cessation of hostilities.

Practice – Peace agreements

As has already been noted, references to IHL in peace agreements most commonly pertain to the provisions of the law that continue to apply, or that come into force, after the cessation of hostilities, and are accompanied by a commitment by the parties to fulfil their post-conflict obligations. In practice, such commitments have included the following: the release of "prisoners of war" or detainees belonging to the respective parties (e.g. in Angola, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Cambodia, Côte d'Ivoire, Liberia, and Sierra Leone), the duties of the parties towards evacuated, displaced and interned civilians (e.g. in Cambodia), the respective duties of military and civilian authorities to account for missing and dead members of armed formations and civilians (e.g. Rwanda, Bosnia and Herzegovina), and the duty of the parties to report the location of landmines (e.g. Rwanda).

In addition to the post-conflict commitments described above, peace agreements have also included other provisions related to IHL, such as commitments to promote full respect for IHL (e.g. Liberia and Sierra Leone), to train defence and security forces in IHL (e.g. Burundi), and to facilitate humanitarian operations (e.g. Ivory Coast, Liberia, Sierra Leone, Somalia).

Although negotiations concerning peace agreements are usually confidential and involve the relevant parties and a third party negotiator, other actors are sometimes able to review and comment on the IHL provisions in a draft agreement. For example, the ICRC was able to comment on IHL-related terms during the negotiations for agreements concluded in Sierra Leone, Burundi and the Côte d'Ivoire.

IHL in Peace Agreements

Based on practice, the following post-conflict IHL provisions may be considered for inclusion in the terms of a peace agreement: the release of detained members of the parties to the conflict, the duties of the parties toward evacuated, displaced and interned civilians, the respective duties of military and civilian authorities to account for the missing and dead, the requirement that the parties report the location of landmines.

In addition, it might be helpful if peace agreements included the following IHL-related provisions: promoting full respect for IHL, IHL training for defence and security forces (especially where members of an armed group are being integrated into national armed forces), and the facilitation of humanitarian operations.

Tools of "Express Commitment"

Four of the legal tools described in this publication – special agreements, unilateral declarations, inclusion of IHL in armed groups' codes of conduct, and references to IHL in ceasefire agreements or peace agreements – share a common feature: they provide a party to a conflict with an opportunity to make an "express commitment" of its willingness or intention to comply with IHL.

Through any of these four tools, the hierarchy of a party to an armed conflict takes an affirmative step: it signs, or agrees with, a statement of the applicable law, thereby taking ownership and making a commitment to ensure respect for the pertinent provisions of IHL. This express commitment is evidence that the party recognizes its obligations under the law.

Any of the tools of express commitment can serve as a useful basis for follow-up action to address violations of the law, providing additional leverage for representations. They can also be used as a basis for disseminating the law.

In addition, any of the tools can have a positive impact on the long-term process of engagement and relationship-building with a party to a conflict. Special agreements, unilateral declarations, ceasefire agreements or peace agreements: any one of these can serve as a starting point for establishing contact and beginning a dialogue. The negotiations or discussions can then provide opportunities to identify a responsible figure, learn more about the party, and carry on a dialogue concerning respect for humanitarian law.

The tools of express commitment, in particular, provide a unique opportunity for armed groups to declare their willingness and commitment to abide by provisions of IHL, given that they cannot formally sign or ratify IHL treaties.

There are no legal consequences for a party that does not make an express commitment when asked to do so. A party to the conflict will be bound by the relevant rules of humanitarian law regardless of whether it agrees to make an express commitment.

In addition to written commitments, parties might make verbal commitments to adhere to the rules of humanitarian law. Although such verbal commitments do not have the same weight as the tools of express commitment mentioned above, they can nonetheless be useful in follow-up representations. Wherever possible, verbal commitments should be recorded - for example, in minutes of meetings - for future reference.

5. GRANTS OF AMNESTY FOR MERE PARTICIPATION IN HOSTILITIES

Members of armed groups party to non-international armed conflicts have little legal incentive to adhere to IHL, given the fact that they are likely, eventually, to face domestic criminal prosecution and serious penalties for having taken part in the conflict, even if they comply with IHL.

Granting amnesty for participation in hostilities may help to provide armed group members with a legal incentive to comply with IHL.

Amnesties may also help to facilitate peace negotiations or enable a process of post-conflict national reconciliation.

It must be remembered that amnesties may not be granted for war crimes or other crimes under international law.

Basic Description

Article 6, para. 5, of Additional Protocol II states: "At the end of hostilities, the authorities in power shall endeavour to grant the broadest possible amnesty to persons who have participated in the armed conflict, or those deprived of their liberty for reasons related to the armed conflict, whether they are interned or detained."

Such an amnesty is intended only for acts of mere participation in hostilities, not for war crimes or other crimes under international law. Thus, it may be granted only to persons taking part in the hostilities who have conducted themselves in accordance with the rules of IHL. This restriction on grants of amnesty is clear from the *travaux préparatoires* of Article 6, para. 5, of Additional Protocol II and is also logically inevitable, given that the underlying objective of IHL is to ensure lawful behaviour by parties to armed conflicts. The same restriction is recognized in customary law: Rule 159 of the ICRC study, *Customary International Humanitarian Law*, states that the authorities must endeavour to grant the broadest possible amnesty, "with the exception of persons suspected of, accused of, or sentenced for, war crimes."

Utility

Two distinct functions may be served by a possible grant of amnesty for mere participation in hostilities.

The first is directly linked to the main issue of improving compliance with humanitarian law by parties to non-international armed conflicts. Members of armed groups party to such conflicts have little legal incentive to adhere to IHL, given the fact that except if they prevail in the conflict they are likely to face domestic criminal prosecution and maximum penalties for having participated in the conflict, even if they comply with IHL. A grant of amnesty for mere participation in hostilities — which is comparable to the position of a combatant entitled to prisoner-of-war status in international armed conflict (such persons cannot be tried by the enemy for mere participation in hostilities) - if offered during the armed conflict itself, could serve to encourage better compliance with IHL by members of armed groups.

The second function, although not directly related to improving compliance with humanitarian law, is that the granting of amnesties may also help to facilitate peace negotiations or contribute to post-conflict national reconciliation. Indeed, most amnesties for acts committed by members of parties to non-international armed conflicts, as found in peace agreements or post-conflict national legislation, have this secondary intent.

Limitations / Obstacles

Amnesties for acts of mere participation in hostilities are likely to be a realistic option only in a limited number of non-international armed conflicts.

Negotiations concerning an amnesty should be approached with great sensitivity to the political context and to the attitudes of the parties involved.

Under international law, grants of amnesty may not include war crimes or other crimes under international law.

Practice

Since the adoption of Additional Protocol II, many States have granted amnesty to persons who have taken part in a non-international armed conflict. Most of these amnesties are found in peace agreements or in post-conflict national legislation.

Their main purpose has been to facilitate peace negotiations or to contribute to post-conflict national reconciliation. Although the subject is beyond the scope of this publication, the impermissibility of amnesties for war crimes or other crimes under international law must be underscored.

For example, the international community very publicly criticized an impermissible amnesty provision contained in the 1999 Lomé Peace Agreement between the government of Sierra Leone and the Revolutionary United Front (RUF). The terms of the agreement granted an absolute and free pardon "to all combatants and collaborators in respect of anything done by them in pursuit of their objectives." The UN Secretary-General's Special Representative for Sierra Leone was instructed to add, along with his signature on behalf of the UN, a disclaimer stating that the amnesty provision "shall not apply to international crimes of genocide, crimes against humanity, war crimes, and other serious violations of international humanitarian law." The UN Secretary-General later reaffirmed that: "the granting of amnesties to those who committed serious violations of international humanitarian and

³¹ UN Secretary-General, Report on the establishment of a Special Court for Sierra Leone, UN Doc. S/2000/915, 4 October 2000, paras 22-24.

criminal law is not acceptable. The experience of Sierra Leone has confirmed that such amnesties do not bring about lasting peace and reconciliation."³²

The war in Algeria is one of the earliest examples of amnesties granted with a view to encouraging better compliance with IHL. In 1958, following the ICRC's representations to the French government concerning places of detention, special camps were created for combatants of the Armée de libération nationale (ALN) who carried arms openly. Detained ALN members were not prosecuted for having participated in the hostilities, unless they were suspected of having committed atrocities. This approach to members of an armed group resembles an amnesty: it achieves the same result by removing the threat of prosecution for those who participate in hostilities in compliance with the law.

Amnesties aimed at encouraging better respect for humanitarian law continue to be suggested in several non-international armed conflicts taking place throughout the world today.

INCREASING RESPECT THROUGH "STRATEGIC ARGUMENTATION"

It is reasonable to conclude that attempts to explain why it is in a party's interest to comply with the law might be effective in encouraging compliance. Such "strategic argumentation" will have a greater likelihood of success than simply stating the law and admonishing a party to comply.

To be effective, any strategic argumentation will have to be adapted to the characteristics of both the party and the conflict. Thus, wherever possible, arguments have to be based on a sound understanding of the motivations and interests of the party to the conflict, facilitated by good contacts and a process of engagement with the party.

Strategic argumentation should be used carefully, as it carries a risk of possible backlash. It should not lead to setting aside respect for IHL in favour of pragmatic concerns or opportunistic outcomes. Furthermore, strategic argumentation should be employed with discretion and with an awareness of the political sensitivity of some arguments.

The following examples of strategic argumentation have been used in dialogue and engagement with parties to non-international armed conflicts.

Military efficacy and discipline

Parties to a conflict should be made aware that the provisions of IHL were originally developed by military commanders taking into consideration the necessary balance between military needs and the dictates of humanity. The rules were designed in part to preserve military interests. Members of armed forces (and, in particular, armed groups) might be receptive to the argument that the law was crafted by those who understood the usefulness of these principles in armed conflict.

It has been successfully put to commanders of parties to a conflict that it is in their interest to have well-disciplined troops who obey the command structure and do not indulge in behaviour that violates the law.

³² UN Secretary-General, Report on the protection of civilians in armed conflict, UN Doc. S/2001/331, 30 March 2001, para. 10.

Further, it can be argued that following the rules of IHL will provide some practical benefits. For example, it has been suggested to a party that if it treats its prisoners well, people might surrender to it more easily.

Arguments of military efficacy and discipline might be helpful in persuading one party to respect the law unilaterally, regardless of how its adversary behaves.

Reciprocal respect and mutual interest

Although the obligation to respect IHL is not based on reciprocity - a party is required to comply with its obligations regardless of the conduct of the other side - it can nonetheless be argued, as a point of pragmatism, that it is in the common interest of both parties to a conflict to adhere to the rules of IHL.

Parties to a non-international armed conflict can, for example, be reminded that, if they treat enemy detainees humanely, it is more likely that their own members who are detained by the other side will be treated in a similar manner.

Reputation

Most parties to an armed conflict are concerned about their reputation – among their constituency, their allies, and internationally – and thus it is sometimes helpful to explain how adherence to IHL can improve their image or public standing. At the local level, this is particularly true where a party is dependent upon, or seeks to win, the support of the civilian population.

In addition, a reputation for being law-abiding might help the party gain the "moral high ground" and might also lead to political gains.

Appealing to core values

The fundamental principles of humanitarian law are often mirrored in the values, ethics or morality of local cultures and traditions. Pointing out how certain rules or principles found in IHL also exist within the culture of a party to a conflict can help lead to increased compliance.

Long-term interests

There are a number of different long-term strategic arguments that might help persuade parties to a conflict to adhere to humanitarian law.

First, it can be argued that, although violations might yield a short-term advantage, the consequences in the long run could be self-defeating (including long-term damage to reputation, loss of support, or even ostracism by the population). Examples could be given of parties to a conflict who have acted lawlessly and been sanctioned afterwards, or who have suffered from national or international criticism and condemnation. Examples of the reverse case can also be given, of parties who have complied with IHL and benefited as a result.

Secondly, it can be pointed out that the legitimacy of a party's power in the future – either in government or in the opposition – might be weakened if it accedes to lawlessness. A party's actions during the conflict could have an effect on the perceptions of those whom it seeks to govern after the conflict.

Thirdly, adherence to IHL will help facilitate post-conflict national reconciliation and a return to peace, which are likely long-term goals of most parties to non-international armed conflicts.

Criminal prosecution

Having in mind significant recent developments in international criminal justice and in the repression of war crimes, parties to a conflict should be made aware of the possibility of prosecution for serious violations of IHL. The creation of the ad hoc tribunals for the former Yugoslavia (ICTY) and Rwanda (ICTR), and of the International Criminal Court (ICC), has strengthened the framework for prosecuting war crimes in non-international armed conflicts.

Economy

Parties to a conflict might respond to the economic argument that adherence to IHL could save resources. For example, compliance with IHL might limit needless destruction to infrastructure or personal property.

FINAL REMARKS

This publication seeks to contribute to a better understanding of the ways in which one can effectively engage with parties to non-international armed conflicts to increase respect for humanitarian law.

The lessons, the legal tools, and the means of persuasion described here have, at various times and in different conflicts, been used by the ICRC or other actors in their efforts to increase respect for IHL. It is hoped that the contents of this publication could serve to inform and assist others who might be contemplating a similar endeavour.